
Iziko 
means a ‘hearth’ 
in isiXhosa.

Traditionally, the hearth 
is the social centre of the 
home. 

It is associated with warmth, 
kinship, and ancestral spirits. 

Here food is prepared and 
shared, stories are told and 

knowledge is passed on from 
one generation to the next.

Similarly, the 12 national museums 
that make up Iziko are 

centres of cultural interaction where 
    knowledge is shared, stories told and 
experiences enjoyed.

South African Museum
South African National Gallery 
South African Maritime Centre
Slave Lodge Museum
William Fehr Collection 
Michaelis Collection
Rust en Vreugd Museum
Bertram House Museum
Koopmans-De Wet House Museum
Groot Constantia Museum
Planetarium
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1. GENERAL 
 INFORMATION



1.1 Submission of the Annual Report to  
 the Executive Authority
The work of Council became much more streamlined 

during this reporting year with the new Council 

focusing on increasing the institution’s reach and 

capacity.  The growing interest of the general public 

in the many varied activities and exhibitions of Iziko 

museums was evidence of our success.  International 

participation and cooperation stood out again as 

elements that enhanced the reputation of Iziko.

The changing role of museums in society was taken 

cognisance of by Council. The emphasis on our core 

business was not neglected, but we endeavoured to expand and modernise the 

presentation of our exhibitions and to reach new audiences. Iziko was increasingly 

invited by national government to manage exhibitions within South Africa and the 

African continent. The exhibition of rare manuscripts from the Ahmed Baba library 

in Timbuktu comes to mind as one that had a positive impact on the relations our 

government had forged with the government of Mali.

Iziko concentrated increasingly on enabling its core functions in the fields of art, 

social history and natural history to be more widely experienced by the public.  At 

the same time, the operational efficiency of our museums improved further. Our 

governance once again proved to be of the best in the heritage sector thanks to 

a fine organisational structure that involved everyone in achieving the strategic 

goals of Iziko.  International cooperation remained one of the most exciting 

initiatives where, through Iziko’s leadership, South Africa has been recognised as 

an important member of the international museum fraternity.

I would like to thank management for taking care of this important part of our 

South African and African heritage, and particularly for making Iziko museums 

alive and accessible to everyone. As we dream of the next 10 to 20 years I would 

want to see Iziko become one of the icons in the city and the province, not only 

for international visitors, but especially for local Cape Town residents and South 

Africans in general.

My thanks to the members of Council who have done a sterling job in giving the 

management of Iziko strategic direction. I am leaving the chairmanship after serving 

the allotted two terms on Council and would like to wish the management and Council 

the best in fulfilling the dreams we have for the heritage sector of the nation.

Professor Eltie Links

Chairperson of Council

1. GENERAL 
 INFORMATION



1.2 Applicable Acts and Other  
 Information 
This report is submitted in compliance with the 

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act  

No. 108 of 1996); the Public Finance Management 

Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act No. 

29 of 1999); Treasury Regulations, 2001; and other 

applicable Acts and Regulations.

1.2.1	 Foundation
In terms of the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 

119 of 1998), five State-funded museums in the Western 

Cape – the South African Cultural History Museum, 

South African Museum, South African National Gallery, 

the William Fehr Collection and the Michaelis Collection – 

were amalgamated as the Southern Flagship Institution 

(SFI). In July 2001, the SFI was officially renamed Iziko 

Museums of Cape Town (Iziko). The name ‘Iziko’, which 

means a ‘hearth’ in isiXhosa, symbolically positions our 

museums as centres of cultural activity.

Iziko operates the following museums, each with its 

own history and character:

South African Museum• 

South African National Gallery • 

South African Maritime Centre• 

Slave Lodge Museum• 

William Fehr Collection (at the Castle of Good • 

Hope)

Michaelis Collection (the Old Town House, on   • 

Greenmarket Square)

Rust en Vreugd Museum• 

Bertram House Museum• 

Koopmans-De Wet House Museum• 

Groot Constantia Museum• 

Planetarium• 

Bo-Kaap Museum• 

SAS Somerset•  (a museum ship at the V&A 

Waterfront)

1.2.2	Vision
Iziko Museums of Cape Town are African museums 

of excellence that empower and inspire all people to 

celebrate and respect our diverse heritage.

1.2.3	Mission	
To manage and promote Iziko’s unique combination of 

South Africa’s heritage collections, sites and services 

for the benefit of present and future generations.

1.2.4	Corporate	Governance
Iziko is governed by a Council appointed for three years 

by the Minister of Arts and Culture. Members of the third 

Council of Iziko are: Dr Elias Links (Chairperson) Adv. Dave 

Mitchell (Deputy Chairperson), Prof Roy du Pré, Dr Shamil 

Jeppie, Ms Pumla Madiba, Prof Pragashan Nayagar, Ms 

Sandra Prosalendis, Prof Ciraj Rassool, and Prof Henry C. 

(Jatti) Bredekamp (Ex Officio).
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The duties of Council, as described in the Cultural 

Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998), are to:

formulate policy;• 

hold, preserve and safeguard all movable and • 

immovable property of whatever kind placed in 

the care of, or loaned, or belonging to the declared 

institution concerned;

receive, hold, preserve and safeguard all specimens, • 

collections or other movable property placed under its 

care and management under section 10(1) of the Act;

raise funds for the institution;• 

manage and control the moneys received by the • 

declared institution and to utilise those moneys for 

defraying expenses in connection with the performance 

of its functions;

keep a proper record of the property of the declared • 

institution; 

submit to the Director-General any returns required by • 

him or her in regard thereto and cause proper books 

of account to be kept;

determine, subject to this Act and with the approval of • 

the Minister, the objects of the declared institution; and, 

generally, carry out the objects of the declared • 

institution.

In addition, the Council:

appoints, in consultation with the Minister, the Chief • 

Executive Officer (CEO);

determines the public operating hours of the institution; • 

determines the conditions under which the public may • 

visit the institution; and,

determines the admission charges that may be paid. • 

1.2.5	Management
1.2.5.1	Executive	Management	Committee

The Executive Management Committee (Exco) consists 

of the Chief Executive Officer, the Executive Director 

Core Functions, and the Executive Director Operations, 

with the Chief Financial Officer and the Director of 

Institutional Advancement in the Office of the CEO 

playing supporting roles. 

1.2.5.2	Senior	Management	Team 
Iziko has three operational units, namely the Core 

Functions and Operations units, and the Department 

of Institutional Advancement in the office of the CEO.

The Core Functions unit includes the departments of 

Natural History Collections, Social History Collections, Art 

Collections, and Education & Public Programmes.

The Operations unit includes the departments of Finance 

& Administration, Customer Services Management, 

Facilities Management and Human Resources. 

The heads of these departments – along with the Chief 

Financial Officer, the Director of Institutional Advancement 

and the members of the Executive Management 

Committee – constitute the Senior Management Team of 

Iziko, under the leadership of the CEO.



1.3 Introduction by Professor   
 HC Bredekamp, CEO of Iziko  
 Museums of Cape Town
This annual report covers the final phase of the three 

year cycle of the Strategic Plan  2006/07–2008/09 

of Iziko Museums of Cape Town which culminated 

towards the end of it in 

the development of the 

new Strategic Plan 2009–

2012. The 2008/2009 

fiscal year represented 

therefore also the last 

year of seeing and doing 

things differently at 

Iziko in relation to our 

six strategic goals of the 

past three years. A more 

detailed performance 

information section 

follows this introduction, highlighting the key 

achievements of our Council, Senior Management 

and staff. Our most painful setback the past year 

was, however, the sudden death of one of our most 

trustworthy Council members, Professor Ravi Nayager, 

in August last year. We also noted with sadness the 

untimely passing of Professor Tony Fairall, former 

consultant astronomer to the Iziko Planetarium, 

following a diving accident. 

As reflected in the Performance Information section 

of this report, good governance was a high priority in 

our first strategic goal – driving the transformation 

process according to national guidelines. Highlights 

here were the development of a policy on the 

Management of Programme Performance Information 

in accordance with Treasury guidelines of 2007, and 

Council’s submission in February 2009 of a new format 

Strategic Plan for 2009–2012 to the Department 

of Arts and Culture. Related to this transformation 

agenda, the CEO succeeded at governance level, and 

also as President of ICOM-South Africa, to forge a 

closer professional relationship between the South 

African Museums Association and the South African 

national committee of the International Council of 

Museums (ICOM). And with the goodwill of DAC, 

he and ICOM-SA were able to host a workshop on 

illicit trafficking for the six chairpersons of national 

committees in southern Africa and other delegates at 

the National Cultural History Museum of the Northern 

Flagship Institution in Pretoria. In addition to these 

responsibilities he also served on other governing 

bodies, such as the Editorial Board of the Seoul-based 

International Journal of Intangible Heritage, the Castle 

Control Board, Groot Constantia Trust, the Genadendal 

Mission Museum Board of Trustees, the West Coast 

Fossil Park Board of Trustees, the Stockholm-based 

Hans Manneby Museums Development Fund, and as 

leader of the University of the Western Cape/DAC 

team of former Minister Pallo Jordan’s Afrikaans Taal 

Project based at UWC. It was also through his initiative 

that an agreement for closer cooperation was signed 

at the Castle of Good Hope in March between Iziko and 

the prestigious Volkenkunde Museum Leiden in the 

Netherlands.  Two of Iziko’s staff members were also 

invited, through the CEO’s intervention, to participate 

in a Swedish African Museums Programme network 

course in Sweden and Tanzania.   

A second strategic goal Iziko set was service excellence 

through management and development of human 

resources. Through a concerted effort of appointing 

candidates from designated groups during our 

recruitment and selection processes, the composition 

of our workforce profile continues to improve, as 

reflected in the Human Resource Management section 

of this report. During this year Marilyn Martin retired 

as the Director of Art Collections and scientist Dr 

Leonard Compagno retired from the Natural History 

Collections Department.  Their contributions to Iziko 

in their different fields of expertise are noted with 

appreciation.

Our third strategic goal was to build, care for and interpret 

collections and sites, which enabled Iziko to welcome a 

total of 493 559 visitors to our 12 museums this year 

[compared to 456 079 in 2007/08].  This achievement 

stemmed mainly from the 26 exhibitions presented in the 

fields of art, social history and natural history, fulfilling 
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Iziko’s mission to promote our unique combination of 

heritage resources for the benefit of present and future 

generations. Notable among these exhibitions were:

The DAC-funded exhibition of the Timbuktu • 

manuscripts Timbuktu: Script & Scholarship which was 

opened by Thabo Mbeki at the Castle of Good Hope 

in August 2008. Thereafter the acclaimed exhibition 

travelled to five other museums in different parts 

of South Africa under the careful supervision of 

Iziko staff and Dr Mohamed Diagayete from Mali. 

Some 25 650 people viewed the exhibition before 

the manuscripts were returned safely to Mali. This 

project has laid the foundation for future cultural 

collaboration with Mali. 

The first retrospective of the late Albert Adams • 

at Iziko South African National Gallery – Albert  

Adams: Journey on a Tightrope. The exhibition and 

catalogue paid tribute to a great South African 

artist whose work has until now been overlooked 

in South African art history.  With the support of 

DAC, Iziko purchased one of Adams’s paintings for 

the permanent collection.

Voices of the Ancestors: Musical Instruments from the Iziko • 

Collections opened on Heritage Day 2008 and brought 

together instruments played by African people as 

part of their spiritual beliefs. It proved very popular 

with school groups and general visitors alike.

Our Public Programmes made a significant contribution to 

achieving our strategic goal of unlocking the educational 

potential of Iziko and innovatively showcasing  the art, 

culture and natural history of South Africa. In October 

2008, for instance, performances were presented at the 

Iziko Slave Lodge to dramatise the Slave Rebellion of 

1808 and make this significant moment of resistance by 

slaves in Cape Town more widely known to contemporary 

audiences. The use of performance to enliven past 

events was very successful and has many educational 

possibilities for museums.

In preparation for the 2010 World Cup, the Iziko Summer 

School hosted a Soccer Indaba which focused on the 

tourism potential of 2010. 

This was but one of many successful workshops and 

discussions that encouraged public debate on current 

topics ranging from climate change to contemporary art.

Popular publications, educational brochures and 

catalogues were produced for major exhibitions.  And, 

needless to say, in respect of custodianship, Iziko’s 

collections were once again managed professionally in 

accordance with best curatorial practice. Our researchers 

distinguished themselves in the fields of palaeontology, 

entomology, marine biology and archaeology. Some 

22 research papers in Natural History were published 

and Iziko is proud to be training one of the few black 

entomologists in the country. DAC interns were included 

on research fieldtrips, and all of the three DAC interns 

who were placed at Iziko have now found permanent 

employment in their fields of interest.

In respect of our strategic goal of improving and 

broadening accessibility to Iziko sites and collections, 

our programme to enable people living with disabilities 

to appreciate and enjoy Iziko exhibitions reached 

people with visual, hearing and physical impairment.  

Iziko is committed to growing this programme when 

more of our museums are fully accessible to users of 

wheelchairs. Thus far seven of our museums have been 

made disabled-friendly through the installation of lifts 

and appropriate access routes. Furthermore, security 

in five of the 12 Iziko museums has been enhanced and 

upgraded through the installation of CCTV cameras. 

The institution’s sound financial management continued, 

and the introduction of a supply chain management 

section led to the execution of 13 tenders and 

streamlined procurement processes. 

In summary, Iziko was successful in achieving its 

strategic objectives and in adding value to the wider 

heritage sector in South Africa and the international 

community. This was made possible by the hard work 

and commitment of the staff of Iziko. Their contributions 

to this report are acknowledged with thanks.



1.4 Performance Information 2008-2009
Performance information relating to the six strategic goals of Iziko is summarised in the table below and the 

related appendices.  

1.4.1	 Drive	the	transformation	process	according	to	national	guidelines
Iziko focused on the core business of the institution, the building of partnerships nationally and internationally, 

and the minimisation of risks. 

     

 

 

  

Manage the 
transformation 
process according to 
national guidelines 
as laid out in the CIA 
(1998), NACA (1997), 
NRFA (1998), NHRA 
(1999), NHCA (1999),  
BCEA (1998); PAIA 
(2000) and EEA 
legislation

Address the current 
under-funding of 
Iziko by Government

Council and CEO 
to lobby DAC 
for increased 
funding, noting 
the progressive 
funding deficit 
for Iziko since 
1999

Government subsidy 
increased

Funding proposals for key 
2010 projects and site 
upgrades, including interior 
and exterior signage, were 
submitted to DAC and DPW.

Develop relevant 
policies in 
compliance with 
legislation

Relevant policies 
drafted for 
approval of 
Council

Approved policies 
in place. Iziko fully 
compliant with 
legislation

Policy on the Management 
of Programme Performance 
Information was approved by 
Council in October 2008.

Identify and acquire 
the necessary 
resources to place 
Iziko in a position 
to implement 
transformation 
processes

Sources 
of funding 
identified and 
applications 
submitted

Funding received to 
implement relevant 
transformation 
programmes

NRF grants were received 
for a range of research 
projects. Monthly financial 
reports and claims were 
submitted to the NRF in 
compliance with their 
financial procedures.

Review and 
implement an 
Employment Equity 
Plan

Consult with 
EE Forum, 
management 
and Council to 
review the EE 
Plan

Meet the objectives 
and proposed 
actions of the EE 
Plan

EE Report was submitted to 
the Department of Labour by 
the deadline date of 
1 October 2008.
A new Employment Equity 
Consultative Forum was 
inaugurated on 25 March 
2009.
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Ensure good 
governance and legal 
compliance in practice

Ensure compliance 
with the Public 
Finance Management 
Act and other 
relevant legislation

Audit level of 
compliance 
within Iziko; 
monitor 
compliance

All areas of 
compliance 
identified. 
Favourable 
reports from 
Auditor-General

Reports in compliance with 
PFMA were submitted on 
deadline.
Iziko received a clean audit 
report for the year 2007/2008 
and the audit of NRF funds was 
also favourable.

Ensure compliance 
with Occupational 
Health & Safety Act

Elect a Health 
& Safety 
Committee

Active Health 
& Safety 
Committee

A Health & Safety Committee 
was elected and appointed in 
terms of the Act and committee 
meetings were held.

Extend Iziko’s 
partnerships with other 
state departments and 
public entities

Develop partnerships 
and potential 
partnerships

Active 
participation of 
government, 
business and 
NGO’s in Iziko 
programmes as 
co-partners.

Effective 
partnerships 
negotiated 
with relevant 
organisations

The CEO sustained a number of 
institutional partnerships –  see 
Appendix 4.1.1 .Partnerships 
resulted in successful Art and 
Social History  exhibitions – see 
Appendix 4.1.2 & 4.1.3

Build international 
partnerships and 
networks to the benefit 
of Iziko

Foster international 
partnerships in the 
heritage sector

Partnership and 
agreements in 
place

Joint projects 
planned and 
implemented

Agreements and collaborations 
are listed in  Appendix 4.1

Collaborate with 
Department of 
Public Works in a 
building programme 
that maintains and 
improves Iziko sites

All sites on regular 
DPW Repair 
and Renovation 
Programme

Plan in place for 
all Iziko buildings 
to be renovated 
and refurbished 
as required

Established R&R 
Programme with 
DPW, funded 
through DAC

Iziko sustained a productive 
relationship with DPW 
– projects are summarised in   
Appendix 4.2

Additional area to 
be created in the 
courtyard of SAM

New extensions 
in courtyard 
area of SAM 
planned with 
DPW      

Plans and 
funding 
approved

Revised plans were finalised in 
first quarter of 2009. Tender 
date is still set for first quarter 
of 2010.

Building 
commenced

2010–2011



  

 

 

 

Renovation and 
extension of National 
Mutual Building to 
house Social History 
Collections to best 
museological standards

New facility 
for housing SH 
Collections and 
Library

Contract 
completed in 
2008   

Handover of building to 
Iziko was delayed by the 
contractors and brought 
forward to July 2009.  

Provide for disabled 
access to  Iziko 
museums

Plan for disabled 
access to Iziko 
sites developed 
with DPW

Access for the 
disabled in 
place at all Iziko 
museums 

Lifts and specialised hoists 
were ordered from China 
and Italy, and are expected in 
April 2009. 
See Appendix 4.2

Build an effective 
and scaleable 
telecommunications 
and Information 
Technology network 
to serve the 
administrative and 
communication needs 
of Iziko

Increase bandwidth 
at all sites. 
Restore telephone 
management system.  
Introduce radio links 
for WAN connectivity 
and wireless systems 
on LAN systems. 
Keep abreast of new 
communications 
technology and  
network security   

Increased 
bandwidth for 
Iziko network. 
Three Iziko 
sites connected 
through radio 
links

Improved 
online access 
and telephone 
system at all 
sites, wireless 
systems in place 
in selected areas. 
Network security 
systems in place

Business case for a new 
Telephone Management 
System was formulated and 
will be used in the tender 
process for external service 
providers.
With the CCTV installation, 
connectivity between 
buildings was addressed.  

Develop and implement 
a Risk Management 
Strategy and Plan

Identify risks 
throughout Iziko

A Risk 
Management 
Strategy 
developed and 
implemented

Risk management 
processes in 
place throughout 
Iziko

Corrective Action Reports 
for all Iziko sites were 
developed and 83% closure 
on reported discrepancies 
was achieved.
Monthly monitoring 
continued.

Develop and 
implement a Disaster 
Management Plan for 
all Iziko sites

Draft Disaster 
Management Plan and 
procedures for Iziko

Disaster 
Management  
Plan in place 
and procedures 
documented

Procedures 
applied 
throughout Iziko

A generic Disaster 
Management Plan was 
drafted in September 2008.
The City of Cape Town’s 
Disaster Management 
Team conducted an 
audit of security, fire and 
mandatory signage at SAM. 
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1.4.2	Achieve	service	excellence	through	management	and	development	of		 	
	 human	resources
The management of Human Resources was aimed at maximising efficiency and creating a positive climate and 

culture at Iziko.

 

 

   

Develop, implement 
and regularly review 
the organisational 
structure to ensure 
that the structure 
facilitates the delivery 
of a professional, 
transformed and 
flexible customer-
focused museum 
service

Align 
organisational 
structure 
to facilitate 
customer-focused 
service delivery  

Jobs in aligned 
structure graded and 
benchmarked in the 
marketplace

Benchmarking 
complete

Iziko salaries were 
benchmarked against salaries 
in the public service and 
heritage sector as well as the 
annual survey of Peromnes 
salaries in order to motivate 
a 10.5 % increase in August 
2008.
New and redefined positions 
were graded.

During this year 27 staff 
members left the employ of 
Iziko and there were 21 new 
appointments.

A remuneration 
strategy developed

Remuneration 
strategy in place

Iziko Council appointed a 
Remuneration Committee to 
develop a new remuneration 
strategy. The Executive 
Director Operations 
represents Management on 
the Committee.

Performance 
Management 
System and Skills 
Development 
Programme reviewed

Performance 
Management 
System 
implemented; 
skills development 
roll-out plan in 
place

In 2008/2009, 57 staff 
members received 
performance awards 
(15 received once-off 
performance bonuses, 
while 42 received a salary 
progression).

Align Human 
Resources policies,  
systems and 
procedures with best 
practice

Review HR 
policies, systems 
and procedures 
to support 
organisational 
effectiveness

HR policies, systems 
and procedures 
reviewed to ensure 
legal compliance and 
good governance

Effective HR 
management  
processes 
implemented 
across Iziko

All HR policies and processes 
are legally compliant.



 

 

   

Develop and 
implement an 
effective Learning 
and Development 
Programme

Undertake a skills 
audit and develop an 
appropriate Learning 
and Development 
Programme  

A skills audit 
conducted in 
consultation with 
employees and 
management

Effective Learning 
and Development 
Programme 
implemented  

Staff participated in a 
total of 490 learning 
and development 
opportunities over the 
period 1 April 2008 to 
31 March 2009.

Prioritise career-
pathing and 
succession 
planning

Develop and implement 
career-pathing and 
succession planning in 
accordance with the 
Employment Equity 
and Learning and 
Development Policies

Career-pathing and 
succession planning 
implemented

Career-pathing and 
succession planning 
processes aligned 
with transformation 
objectives and 
values of Iziko

Career-pathing for 
staff was planned and 
implemented in relation 
to transformation 
objectives.

Empower staff 
through a good 
communication 
system

Develop and 
implement an effective 
Communication Plan 
that would empower 
employees

Management 
and employees 
consulted in 
development of 
Communication 
Plan

Increased employee 
involvement in 
management 
processes.  
Feedback from 
management, staff 
and Council

IA produced an in-house 
E-newsletter monthly.

Transform Iziko’s 
climate and culture

Develop and implement 
a strategy for building 
and sustaining a healthy 
organisational culture, 
and ensuring that the 
values are lived

A Climate and 
Culture survey 
conducted in terms 
of current values, 
vision, leadership 
style and workplace 
relations

Positive 
organisational 
culture and pride in 
Iziko

A Climate and Culture 
Survey was conducted 
and feedback was given 
to staff. 
Areas needing attention 
were identified and 
recommendations made.    

Introduce a 
leadership style 
and philosophy to 
support desired 
climate and culture

Leadership 
Manifesto 
developed and 
shared across Iziko

A leadership assessment 
was conducted for staff 
in senior positions.

Implement a 
staff leadership 
award system in 
consultation with 
staff

Equitable award  
system in place

A staff leadership award 
system was deferred.

Develop and 
implement a 
Trainee and 
Internship 
Programme  

Apply to DAC for funding 
through their Internship 
Programme and the DPW 
Expanded Public Works 
Programme

Number of 
trainee positions 
in collections 
departments 
increased

Trainee 
Programmes 
implemented

Three DAC interns were 
placed at Iziko and all 
three found employment 
during or on completion 
of their internship.
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Manage collections 
and sites to the 
highest international 
standards

Review Collections 
Policies

Approved 
Collections Policies 
reviewed   

Collections 
managed 
according to best 
practice

Approved Collections Policies 
are in place and amendments 
to the Art and SH policy were 
approved by Council.

Curatorial 
procedures 
manuals for 
each collection 
developed

Curatorial 
manuals in place 
and updated as 
required

Curatorial manuals for NH and 
SH were completed in 2007; 
curatorial manuals for NH 
were all updated by Jan 2009.

Provide adequate 
space and controlled 
conditions for 
the storage of all 
collections

All needs for 
collections storage 
assessed and 
documented

Motivations for 
new facilities 
submitted to 
DPW through 
DAC as required

Preparations for the move to 
the new Iziko Social History 
Centre continued. Stocktaking 
of the art collection made 
progress, and was completed 
for the African Art collection 
and works stored in the 
basement of SANG.

Develop and extend 
computerised 
collections databases 
and make them 
available on the 
Internet

Databases for 
Art, NH and 
SH collections 
developed and 
updated regularly

Databases 
developed and 
maintained in 
accordance with 
set targets

Total number of records on 
databases:
NH: 413 108; SH: 32 786; 
Art: 9 151.

Collections images 
in Art, NH and SH 
digitised

Bank of 
collections-
related images in 
place

SH images: total 4 244. 
Art images remained 
unchanged pending the 
appointment of a registrar.

Databases and 
images made 
accessible on the 
Internet

Increase in 
accessible 
databases and 
image resources 
on the Internet

Annotated works from the 
permanent collections were 
added to the website, as was 
information on new exhibitions. 
Most of the biodiversity-related 
databases in NH were added 
to SABIF portal amounting to    
224 619 records.  An additional 
35 462 marine records were 
added to the OBIS portal.

1.4.3	Build,	care	for	and	interpret	the	collections	and	sites	of	Iziko 
Iziko has curatorial responsibility for 12 national museums. Its heritage collections in the fields of Art, Social 

History and Natural History number over 1.3 million accessions which are interpreted, managed and developed 

for the benefit of present and future generations.



 

 

 

  

Develop a Knowledge 
and Records 
Management 
Strategy

Develop and 
implement a 
Knowledge 
Management 
Strategy for Iziko

Knowledge 
Management 
Strategy developed 
and implemented

Iziko records 
managed 
systematically and 
in line with legal 
requirements

The recommendations of 
the scoping report of March 
2008 will be taken forward in 
2009/2010.

Build national 
collections of which 
all South Africans 
can be proud

Regular review 
of Collections 
Policies in line with 
national priorities 
and transformation 
objectives

Collections Policies 
reviewed

Acquisition 
procedures guided 
by the Collections 
Policies

Collections were developed 
in line with policy - see 
Appendix 4.5

Correct and 
redress imbalances 
created by the 
colonial and 
apartheid past

Acquisition 
and exhibition 
policies address 
the historical 
imbalances

Iziko collections 
reflect significant 
contemporary 
developments in 
heritage, arts and 
culture

Acquisitions are listed in 
Appendix 4.5

Develop and 
maintain 
relationships with 
potential donors to 
the collections

Effective 
relationships 
with donors and 
benefactors 
cultivated

Good donor 
relationships in 
place resulting in 
enhancement of 
collections through 
donor support

Donations are listed in 
Appendix 4.5

Liaison and 
cooperation with 
Friends of museums 
associations 
sustained

Collections 
enhanced through 
support of the 
Friends

Friends of SANG supported 
Iziko through the purchase of  
artworks - see Appendix 4.5.2

Generate new 
knowledge about 
our collections and 
the heritage they 
represent

Support research 
that is collection-
based and aligned 
with key themes 
that have been 
prioritised

Research aligned 
with strategic 
priorities

New knowledge 
generated in key 
areas and made 
accessible

NH: 22 peer-reviewed 
publications; 4 popular and 
other publications arising 
from research. SH: 1 peer-
reviewed article in pre-colonial 
archaeology. See Appendix 4.6

Apply to NRF for 
research funding

Scientists 
encouraged to 
achieve successful 
rating and funding 
from the NRF

Iziko recognised 
for the quality of 
its research

NH: NRF rated-researchers 
include 3 B-rated and 2 
C-rated scientists. Dr Roger 
Smith has improved his rating 
from B2 to B1. Dr Leonard 
Compagno, B1-rated scientist, 
retired in December 2008.
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Produce relevant 
publications, 
exhibitions, and 
educational 
resources as 
outcomes of 
research

Relevant publications, 
exhibitions and 
educational 
resources produced 
in line with strategic 
objectives

Iziko-branded 
publications, 
exhibitions and 
educational resources 
contribute effectively 
to the public 
understanding of 
heritage.

Publications are listed in 
Appendix 4.6

Production of Social 
History and Art 
Journal

Volume 1 published Publication was deferred to 
2009/2010.

Production of Natural 
History Research 
Journal

Volume 4 published Volume 4 was published in 
Dec 2008.

Scientific publications 
in refereed journals

Increase in number of 
journal publications

NH: 22 scientific papers 
were published.

Website content 
deepened in line with 
targets

Website content 
reflects new 
knowledge and 
increase in number of 
hits on website

In March 2009 Biodiversity 
Explorer, Waspweb and Figweb 
websites averaged  4 304 page 
downloads and 1 755 unique 
visitors per day. Astronomy 
charts and astronomical 
events were posted monthly 
and regularly updated.

Provide adequate 
resources to 
the libraries to 
support research

Well-resourced 
libraries with greater 
public access

Increased use of 
libraries

NH library: 48 public 
visitors; staff: 2 544.  
SH library: 733 public 
visitors; staff: 996. 
Art Library opened its new 
premises. In the last quarter 
there were 477 public 
visitors and 317 staff users.

Catalogues and 
research journals 
used for library 
exchanges

Active library 
exchange 
programmes that 
add to Iziko library 
holdings

Library exchange – receipt 
and despatch to 51 national 
and international museums 
continued in the Art Library.

Promote study 
of our collections 
by external 
researchers

Develop mutually 
beneficial relationships 
with researchers

Increased research 
output

NH: 138 research visitors.    
SH: 75 research visitors.



 

 

  

Manage and maintain 
an active loan system 
to promote the use 
and knowledge of the 
collections

Loan agreements 
negotiated 
and effectively 
managed

Loan systems in 
place and good 
relationships 
established with 
institutions in the 
heritage sector

Loans from all collections were 
regularly sent to heritage and 
scientific institutions - 
see Appendix 4.4

Develop and 
implement a 
strategy and 
master plan for 
site presentation, 
interpretation and 
development

Identify key visitor 
attractions of each 
site and develop 
a blueprint for 
presentations and 
programmes

Presentation 
plan aligned with 
master plan of 
key themes and 
focus areas for 
next 3-5 years

Site presentation 
strategy 
implemented to 
attract diverse 
audiences

Site presentation was reviewed 
as part of planning for 2010.

Develop an 
integrated  
programme  for 
dynamic temporary 
and  long-term 
exhibitions

Roll-out plan for 
exhibitions at Iziko sites 
over the next 3 years;  
diversify programme to 
attract new audiences; 
link programmes 
to national and 
international events

Implementation 
plan for 
exhibitions at 
Iziko museums 
developed

Integrated plan 
implemented and 
visitor responses 
evaluated 

Planning for 2010 World Cup 
included: NH: Footprints and 
Table Mt exhibitions. SH: Kaapse 
Klopse carnival exhibition.  
Art: Sport-related exhibitions.                
Key projects for the 2010 
programme were approved and 
fundraising got underway.

Programme for 
Commemorative 
Days 
implemented  

Increased public 
profile and visitor 
numbers

Heritage Day 2008 attracted 
large audiences due to the special 
programme offered and extended 
opening hours. Commemorative 
Day programmes are included in 
Appendix 4.7

Ensure that 
Iziko sites  are 
sustainable entities

Assess the viability 
of sites within the 
context of Iziko’s 
capacity and strategic 
priorities  

Assessment 
completed and 
results evaluated

Strategy for 
cost-effective 
sustainability 
implemented

A comparative analysis of 
visitor figures dating back 
to 2006 was initiated. Iziko 
received a total of 493 559 
visitors in the current year 
compared to 456 079 in the 
previous year. 

Conduct feasibility 
studies on sites with 
low visitor numbers

Evaluate results 
of feasibility 
studies and 
develop 
strategies for 
action

Strategy to 
revitalise sites 
implemented

A future strategy for Bertram 
House was discussed. A letter was 
written to the Lidderdale Trust to 
outline the new plans. Under the 
banner Seeing things differently, a 
strategic programme of events, 
activities and partnerships for 
Iziko was launched.       
New site guide with map 
was developed to increase 
awareness of Iziko’s 12 national 
museums in Cape Town.
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Develop a 
marketing and 
communications 
strategy to increase 
Iziko’s public 
profile and create a 
positive  perception 
of Iziko across 
all sectors of the 
community

Establish and 
implement an 
integrated Marketing 
and Communications 
Plan based on market 
research and analysis

Marketing and 
Communications 
Plan in place and 
effectiveness 
evaluated

Effective 
communication 
achieved 
with positive 
community 
feedback

A summer campaign was 
effectively implemented 
to promote Iziko sites and 
exhibitions. Excellent media 
exposure was generated 
during this campaign.  

Develop and 
implement a 
corporate branding 
strategy

Branding strategy 
and manual 
developed

Increased profile 
of Iziko and 
positive media 
coverage

A tender to develop a 
Brand Strategy and revised 
brand manual to improve 
brand awareness and 
coherence was awarded and 
implementation is underway.

Conduct survey 
and analysis of 
current and potential 
audiences

Audience surveys 
and analysis 
conducted

Improved visitor 
satisfaction 
and diversified 
audiences

In May and October 2008 
a profile tracking study 
was conducted at the five 
major Iziko sites. This 
survey showed the extent 
of the service shortfall and 
identified key problem areas.

Visitor complaints 
addressed

Minimal 
complaints from 
visitors

Visitor complaints were 
tracked and responded to on 
a consistent basis.

Surveys to assess 
why some people 
do not visit Iziko 
conducted and 
analysed

Outcomes of 
survey used to 
inform strategy 
to attract new 
audiences

Surveys of non-visitors were 
conducted on an ongoing 
basis.

1.4.4	Improve	and	broaden	accessibility	to	Iziko	sites	and	collections	
Iziko is committed to making heritage collections and sites conceptually and physically accessible to all. 



 

 

  

Increase visitor 
satisfaction

Build a team of 
motivated and 
helpful frontline 
staff and provide 
relevant training

Frontline staff 
empowered 
to provide an 
excellent service

Team of trained 
and motivated 
staff in place

Staff briefing sessions on new 
exhibitions at the SANG and SL 
continued.
Detail Tourism Training trained 
a total of 12 Iziko frontline staff 
and Customer Care training was 
given to all CSM contract staff.
New Iziko-branded outfits were 
given to all indefinite CSM staff 
and Iziko-branded T-shirts were 
procured for CSM contract staff.
Staff restrooms were upgraded. 

Positive feedback 
from visitors, 
staff and other 
stakeholders

Visitor comments were 
analysed and addressed. 
A positive trend was noted.

Improve signage to 
inform visitors of 
available facilities

Improved 
signage systems 
developed for all 
sites. Improved 
visitor flow in 
museums

Effective signage 
system in place at 
all Iziko museums

A Signage Audit was conducted 
at all Iziko sites and funding 
from DAC was secured to 
upgrade the signage and way-
finding at SAM. Installation of 
mandatory signage will form 
part of this project.

Implement 
controlled access 
system for visitors 
and upgrade security 
at all Iziko museums

Upgraded access 
and security 
systems in place

Improved security 
across Iziko 
museums

The alarm in the education 
section of the SANG Annexe 
was upgraded. New alarm 
systems were installed at the 
Wingfield Hangar and at the Old 
Town House.
The installation of the CCTV 
cameras at the five major 
Iziko museums progressed 
satisfactorily. 
See Appendix 4.2
Monitoring of the outsourced 
security service provider 
continued at the SAM/SANG.  
Vagrancy in the surrounding 
precinct was monitored.

Ensure that all public 
facilities at Iziko 
museums are clean 
and well maintained

System for 
checking 
public facilities 
implemented

Positive visitor 
feedback  

New outsourced cleaning 
services were extended to the 
SANG. 
Cleaning rosters were put 
in place at all sites and were 
monitored regularly.
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Increase 
accessibility to 
Iziko collections 
and sites

Showcase Iziko 
collections nationally 
and internationally

An extensive  
marketing 
programme of Iziko 
exhibitions in place

Increased visibility 
of Iziko collections 
and sites

A full programme of 
exhibitions was offered to 
attract diverse audiences and 
showcase collections. Twenty-
six exhibitions were mounted 
as listed in Appendix 4.3

Exhibition 
partnerships 
and collections 
exchange 
programmes 
negotiated

International 
exchanges and 
partnerships 
increased profile 
of Iziko museums

A partnership with the Goethe 
Institute was initiated to bring 
the exhibition The Tropics to 
Iziko. A proposed exhibition 
from China was postponed 
until funding became available.

Improve the Iziko 
website and use it to 
market Iziko 

Wide selection 
of Iziko virtual 
collections and 
exhibitions on the 
website

Increased 
awareness of 
Iziko collections 
and sites and 
increased use of 
Iziko website

In March 2009 Biodiversity 
Explorer, Waspweb and Figweb 
websites averaged 4 304 page 
downloads and 1 755 unique 
visitors per day.

Develop curriculum-
linked educational 
web content 

Accessible 
education content 
for the Iziko 
website developed

Increased number 
of users of Iziko 
educational 
resources  

Timbuktu resources were 
developed for the Iziko 
website.
Edu’ ndaba Autumn edition was 
posted on the Iziko website.

Increase access 
through developing 
behind-the-scenes 
tours

Programme of 
behind-the-scenes 
tours of collections 
implemented

Positive feedback; 
increased access 
to Iziko collections 
through behind-
the-scenes tours

Behind-the-scenes tours and 
workshops were organised 
to increase access to Iziko 
collections.

Build partnerships 
and foster 
community co-
ownership of Iziko.
Broaden our 
audience profile

Develop and 
implement a 
partnership and 
Stakeholder 
Management 
Strategy

Stakeholder 
Strategy developed 
and implemented

Partnerships 
enhance Iziko 
profile

Stakeholder relationships were 
sustained.
See Appendix 4.1

A database of 
potential local, 
national and 
international 
partners 
established

Increased number 
of partnerships

A centralised database for 
Iziko was set up.



 

 

  

Sound relationships 
with Friends 
organisations 
maintained

Increased support 
from Friends 
organisations

Support of the Friends of SANG 
over 40 years was celebrated 
with an exhibition. 
Good relationships with the 
three Friends organisations were 
sustained.

Good relationship 
fostered with 
political principals

Official visits by 
politicians and 
people of influence 
to Iziko sites  

Prominent public figures took 
part in Iziko’s public programmes 
as guest speakers. 
Programmes are listed in 
Appendix 4.7 

New alliances with 
stakeholders in 
the city and wider 
communities 
developed

Stakeholder 
alliances 
strengthened. 
Increased 
participation 
of previously 
marginalised 
communities

A partnership with the Scalabrini 
Centre was forged to develop an 
educational programme focusing 
on Xenophobia and other Human 
Rights issues.
Iziko Planetarium sponsored 
shows for underprivileged 
children on Reconciliation Day in 
December 2008.

Improve access 
regarding different 
languages and 
physical abilities  

Develop an Iziko 
Access Policy  

Access Policy 
developed and 
implemented

Improved access 
to Iziko museums 
for diverse 
audiences

Meaningful Access Project 
workshops continued. Introductory 
texts to major exhibitions were 
written in Afrikaans, English and 
Xhosa. The Planetarium show for 
schools Starbike was translated 
into Xhosa.
An Iziko Access Policy was drafted, 
but finalisation was delayed.

Increase access 
to and enjoyment 
of exhibitions 
(e.g. audio tours, 
interactive touch 
exhibits)

Audio tours 
initiated

Increased number 
of audio tours

Audio tours to be reviewed for 
2010.
Negotiations got underway 
with Mobiguide to implement 
cellphone activated museum 
information for visitors.

Braille labels and 
touch exhibits 
introduced

Increased number 
of Braille labels 
and touch exhibits

No progress was made in 
increasing number of Braille 
labels and touch exhibits.

Special needs 
programmes 
developed for all 
major exhibitions

Special needs 
programmes 
implemented

Special needs will be included in 
the Access Policy to be finalised 
in 2009/2010.
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1.4.5	Unlock	the	educational	potential	of	Iziko	and	promote	and	innovatively		 	
	 showcase	our	arts,	culture	and	natural	history
Iziko offered a wide range of educational programmes for young learners, students and adults.  The Planetarium 

made the science of astronomy accessible, the Mobile Museum extended the physical reach of Iziko, while the 

website provided on-line heritage resources.

 

 

   

Increase access 
to and use of 
Iziko educational 
resources

Conduct surveys 
on expectations of 
potential users, e.g. 
teachers, scholars and 
others

Regular surveys 
on expectations of 
potential users of Iziko 
education resources 
conducted

Analysis of user 
experiences 
guides service 
improvement

Positive feedback 
regarding Iziko Winter 
Programmes and 
Planetarium shows was 
received.

Increased number 
of students/ 
learners/ adults 
using Iziko 
educational 
resources

Visitor figures for children 
showed a significant 
increase for the period 
April 2007 to December 
2008 due to free entrance 
for visitors under 16 years.

A structured WCED–Iziko 
partnership sustained 
through joint planning of 
workshops and training 
programmes

Effective utilisation 
of WCED–Iziko 
resources in 
programmes

Collaboration with WCED 
continued.
Iziko, WCED and the 
Ibhabhathane Project 
jointly hosted workshops 
for WCED teachers. 

Maximise the 
educational value 
of exhibitions and 
collections in line with 
strategic objectives 
and curriculum

Collection-related, user-
friendly, educational 
resources developed

Learning and 
Teaching Support 
Material (LTSM) 
enhance the 
educational 
experience of 
learners  

Timbuktu learner packs 
were compiled and 
distributed to schools 
and participating 
museums during the 
Timbuktu exhibition. 

Edu’ ndaba, 2008/2009 
Summer issue, including 
articles and learner 
resources, was published 
and distributed.

Develop a strategy 
and programme for 
World Cup 2010

Use the opportunity 
provided by 2010 to 
develop Iziko sites 
and showcase our 
heritage to international 
audiences; link planning 
with other heritage 
stakeholders

Plan for exhibitions 
and public programmes 
at Iziko sites that will 
draw audiences and 
promote heritage during 
the 2010 World Cup 
developed

A strategy 
implemented to 
profile Iziko during 
the 2010 World 
Cup

The Programmes 
Planning Committee 
gave specific attention 
to 2010 planning and 
indentified lead projects.



 

 

 

  

Produce relevant 
exhibition- and 
collection-related 
educational 
materials

Develop collections-
based learning 
support material that 
caters for a range of 
audiences

Diverse collections-
based and 
exhibition-related 
support material 
produced

Increase in 
demand and 
distribution of  
learning materials

Worksheets for the FET 
learners were completed for 
major exhibitions.
A new Planetarium 
presentation for children was 
produced.

Produce Iziko-
branded exhibition-
related and popular 
publications

Develop relevant 
publications and 
build alliances with 
publishers

Publications funded 
and produced 
to accompany 
major exhibitions; 
relationships with 
publishers formed  

An increased Iziko 
publication profile

Catalogues were produced 
for the Scratches on the Face 
exhibition and the Albert 
Adams exhibition at SANG, 
and the Timbuktu exhibition at 
the Castle.

Effective marketing 
of Iziko publications

Marketing plan 
for publications 
developed

Increased visibility 
and usage of Iziko 
publications

As part of a wider marketing 
strategy for Iziko, Edu’ ndaba 
was redesigned.

Develop a 
relevant educator 
development 
programme

Develop 
capacity building 
programmes for 
educators

Training 
programmes 
for educators 
developed

Effective 
educators in place

Iziko educators participated 
in workshops and worked 
together with curriculum 
advisors to develop 
programmes.

Formalise 
agreements with 
WCED and DoE 
in terms of joint 
ventures

Iziko educators 
attend in-service 
WCED-facilitated 
training workshops

Iziko educators 
have unrestricted 
access to the 
training available 
to school 
educators

Collaboration with DoE 
regarding Timbuktu materials 
continued.  
The Timbuktu Education packs 
were introduced to teachers 
and curriculum advisors from 
across the country.

Negotiate ETDP 
SETA–Iziko 
partnerships 
in professional 
development 
programme in 
heritage education

ETDP SETA and 
Iziko partnership 
consolidated

ETDP SETA short 
courses identified 
for certification 
as professional 
development option 
for educators

Feasibility of this objective 
to be reviewed in the next 
financial year.
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Feasibility of this 
objective to be 
reviewed in the 
next financial year

Develop a dynamic 
off-site education 
programme 
to build new 
audiences for Iziko

Off-site education 
programmes 
developed, 
including use 
of Iziko Mobile 
Museum

Measurable 
increase in reach 
of education 
programmes

Iziko Mobile Museum continued 
to add educational value to 
marginalised communities and 
schools.  
Successful astronomy outreach 
programs were conducted as 
part of the IYA initiative. 
Davy Dragon’s Guide to the Night 
Sky appeared in over 45 editions 
of the Weekend Argus’ Jelly Bean 
Journal.

Education 
and Tourism 
programmes linked

Programme for 
both tourism and 
education sectors 
in place

Iziko programmes were promoted 
to the tourism and education 
sectors.  Walking tours of the Bo-
Kaap were conducted. 
As part of the Summer School 
programme, a successful Soccer 
Indaba entitled: Museums as 
Spaces for Creative Tourism and 
Interaction was held.  

Increase 
participation in 
annual school-
focused marketing 
events

Iziko brand 
promoted at 
school-focused 
marketing events

Feedback from 
education sector, 
the public and 
volunteers

Iziko participated in school-
focused and public events. See 
Appendix 4.7

Promote family 
group learning

Develop family-
oriented museum 
programmes

Family 
programmes 
developed

Increased number 
of family visitors 
to museums

A campaign was initiated to target 
young people by offering free 
entry to visitors under 16 years.
Iziko Summer Campaign 
promoted museums during the 
holiday season and targeted 
families.  

Provide learning 
programmes for 
tour guides

Develop ongoing 
learning 
programmes for 
tour guides

Programme 
for tour guides 
implemented

Increased network 
of trained tour 
guides and 
operators

Guides met monthly and were 
briefed by curators.

Provide a 
sustainable and 
dynamic volunteer 
programme

Recruit and train 
volunteers

Volunteers 
recruited 
and training 
programme 
sustained

Increased number 
of volunteers

The Young Museum Ambassadors 
project was implemented 
throughout the year.  
Iziko worked closely with 
institutions, such as UCT, UWC 
and College of Cape Town, in 
giving young people opportunities 
to do volunteer and internship 
work.  



1.4.6	Ensure	financial	viability	for	Iziko
As a public institution, Iziko is committed to good governance and good financial management practices.  

 

 

  

Develop and 
implement a 
diversified Funding 
and Investment 
Strategy 

Develop a 
Fundraising Policy 
and implement a 
medium- to long-
term Fundraising 
Plan

Fundraising 
Policy and Plan 
developed and 
approved

Fundraising 
Strategy 
successfully 
implemented 

Funding applications were 
submitted for 2010 project to the 
NLDTF, NAC, NHC and DAC.
Scientists received research 
grants from the NRF and Iziko 
administered the funds.  

Lottery-funded projects were 
reported on to the satisfaction of 
the NLDTF.

Application for the activation of 
existing WCS number to enable 
the roll out of the Signage 
and Way-finding Project was 
submitted to DAC.

Develop a 
Relationship 
Management 
Strategy (RMS)

Relationships 
with stakeholders 
strengthened

Stakeholder relationships were 
sustained.

Create a 
Membership 
Organisation for 
Iziko

An Iziko 
Membership 
Organisation 
initiated

Membership 
Organisation 
launched publicly

Recommendations regarding a 
Membership Organisation were 
addressed in the Fundraising 
Strategy.

Develop a 
medium- to long-
term Investment 
Strategy

Investment Policy 
to maximise 
revenue 
developed; 
investment market 
scanned to obtain 
highest interest 
rates

Investment 
Policy informs 
Investment 
Strategy  

An Investment Policy was 
approved by Council.

Increase in 
interest received

Actual interest received was 4% 
more than anticipated for the 
period April 2008 to March 2009.
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Reduce operational 
costs

Outsource 
operations where 
appropriate

Operational costs 
reviewed across 
Iziko

Comparative 
reduction in costs 
per operation

Consumable stock prices were 
monitored and the marketplace 
was continuously scanned for 
new suppliers.

Implement 
and review the 
Supply Chain 
Management 
(SCM) Policy

Policy 
implemented and 
reviewed annually

Procurement 
informed by the 
SCM Policy

Tender processes for a 
publications designer and brand 
specialist were initiated.
Seven tender processes were 
completed.

Develop cash 
management 
procedures

Cash management 
procedures 
developed and 
approved

Cash management 
procedures 
implemented and 
monitored

Cash management procedures 
were implemented and 
monitored.

Draw up guidelines 
for Financial 
Manual

A Financial Manual 
developed  

Financial 
operations guided 
by the Financial 
Manual

Development of a Financial 
Manual continued.

Maximise revenue Review costing 
of  professional 
services, 
merchandise and 
venue hire on an 
annual basis

Standardised 
fee structure 
for professional 
services 
introduced

Increased income 
from professional 
services

The fee structure for 
reproduction rights to images in 
Iziko collections was reviewed.

Venue hire fees 
reviewed and 
aligned with 
market trends

Increased income 
from venue hire

For the period April 2008–March 
2009 a total of 131 venue hire 
events were hosted with a total 
income of R576 888.

Iziko-branded 
merchandise 
produced

Increased income 
from merchandise

A range of Iziko branded T-shirts 
was developed in collaboration 
with SA designer Themba 
Mngomezulu.

Develop new 
sources of income

Intellectual capital, 
specialist skills, 
knowledge and 
experience of 
employees used to 
generate income 
for Iziko

Increased 
consultancy 
services

Revised tariffs for public and 
staff parking were implemented 
in January 2009.
Income was generated from an 
in-house audiovisual service to 
clients using Iziko venues.

CHAIRPERSON OF COUNCIL   CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Date:  6 August 2009    Date:  6 August 2009
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We are pleased to present the Audit Committee Report 

for the Iziko Museums of Cape Town for the financial year 

ended 31 March 2009.

Audit	Committee	Members	and	Attendance
The Audit Committee consists of three non-executive 

members of Council and it met twice during the year in 

accordance with its approved terms of reference.

Name of Member Number of Meetings Attended

Adv. DJ Mitchell (Chairperson) 2

Prof RH Du Pré 2

Prof R Nayager 1

The Audit Committee records with deep regret that 

Prof Ravi Nayager passed away on 22 August 2008. 

Prof Nayager was not replaced on the Audit Committee 

and his contribution is sorely missed.

Audit	Committee	Responsibility
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its 

responsibilities arising from sections 51(1)(a)(ii) and 76(4)(d) 

of the Public Finance Management Act and Treasury 

Regulation 27. The Audit Committee further reports that 

it reviewed and reaffirmed the audit committee charter 

during the year, has regulated its affairs in compliance 

with this charter, and has discharged its responsibilities as 

contained therein.

Risk	management
The Audit Committee has noted the promotion of a higher 

degree of risk awareness throughout Iziko, and endorses the 

substantial progress that has been made by management 

in developing a workable disaster management plan for all 

key sites.

Internal	audit
The Internal Audit Function has substantially fulfilled its 

responsibilities as set out in the Internal Audit Charter as 

agreed with Audit Committee and endorsed by Council.  

Iziko’s risk-based three year and rolling one year internal 

audit plan are now being updated, as required by Treasury 

Regulation 27.2.7, and will be formally adopted at the next 

Audit Committee meeting.

During the year internal audit attention was primarily 

directed towards:

reviewing the standard operating procedures that • 

are applied within the areas of Iziko’s Natural History 

Collections and Education & Public Programmes

undertaking a compliance review of selected Iziko • 

policies and procedures, and comparing these to 

best international practice as recommended by the 

International Council of Museums (ICOM)

training senior risk managers with regard to their • 

governance, risk management and internal control 

responsibilities, and generally supporting the Chief 

Risk Officer

compiling and maintaining Iziko’s Risk Register and • 

ensuring that risk assessment processes are regularly 

updated

providing training and support to ensure that project • 

leaders and recipients of specific donor funds and 

research grants respected and adhered to the terms 

and conditions of these donations and sponsorships.

Internal audit coverage needs, however, to be extended 

to include all significant financial risk areas, as well as key 

financial and performance reporting responsibilities.

Internal	control
Internal control is the system of controls and directives 

that are designed to provide cost-effect assurance 

that Iziko’s mandate is fulfilled, that its assets are 

safeguarded and its liabilities and working capital are 

efficiently managed, in compliance with all relevant 

statutory and governance duties and requirements.

The Audit Committee notes from the Audit Report on 

the Annual Financial Statements and the management 

report of the Auditor-General that no significant or 

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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material non-compliance with prescribed policies and 

procedures has been reported, and is accordingly able 

to report that the system of internal control for the 

year under review was efficient and effective.

Greater attention needs, however, to be given to the 

manner in which the operational exercising of internal 

controls is evidenced and recorded, with less reliance 

on after-the-event confirmation and explanation, and 

closer monitoring by management with internal audit 

support is recommended.

Scope	of	audit	coverage
The scope of this year’s external audit coverage by the 

Auditor-General was wider than in previous years, in 

that the audit included an examination of Iziko’s actual 

achievements against performance management targets 

for its key objectives and strategic programmes, as is 

now required by National Treasury. Iziko did not fully 

meet the reporting standards that are now required. This 

change necessitates greater anticipation and planning 

by management, and should similarly be matched by 

more specific internal audit reviews in this area.

Compliance	with	international	accounting	
standards
Audit Committee has observed the impact of 

developments in international accounting standards on 

the financial reporting and disclosure rules that Iziko 

must comply with, in terms of the financial reporting 

framework applicable to public entities. Many of 

these rules are complex and onerous, even somewhat 

inappropriate, for non-trading entities like museums 

and cultural institutions. While a more pragmatic 

approach would be welcomed, it would be helpful if 

closer attention were given to these challenges at an 

earlier stage in the year-end reporting and auditing 

cycle. This area should also be considered for inclusion 

in an internal audit review.

The Audit Committee wishes to record and acknowledge 

the assistance and technical support given by the 

Auditor-General and his team to improve Iziko’s level 

of compliance in this area.

Related	party	transactions
Closer attention needs to be paid to the agreement 

of related party transactions and year-end balances, 

especially where these involve other public entities.

National	Research	Foundation
Audit Committee notes that an assurance engagement 

was satisfactorily conducted during the year on 

expenditure against National Research Foundation 

grants and grant-deposits. The implementation 

of effective control over donor funds remains an 

important management focus area.

Evaluation	of	Financial	Statements
The Audit Committee has:

reviewed and discussed the audited annual • 

financial statements to be included in the annual 

report, with the Auditor-General, with Iziko’s Chief 

Executive Officer and with Iziko’s Council as the 

Accounting Authority

reviewed the Auditor-General’s management • 

report and management’s response

reviewed changes in accounting policies and • 

practices, as applicable

reviewed and endorsed the accounting policy • 

adjustments that resulted from the audit.

The Audit Committee accordingly concurs with and 

supports the Auditor-General’s conclusion on the 

annual financial statements, and is of the opinion 

that the audited annual financial statements can be 

accepted and read together with the Auditor-General’s 

report.

Adv. DJ Mitchell, CA (SA)

Chairperson of the Audit Committee

Date: 24 August 2009



REPORT	ON	THE	FINANCIAL	STATEMENTS
Introduction
1. I have audited the accompanying financial statements 

of Iziko Museums of Cape Town which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at 31 March 2009, and 

the statement of financial performance, the statement 

of changes in net assets and the cash flow statement for 

the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 

37 to 69.

The	accounting	authority’s	 responsibility	
for	the	financial	statements
2. The accounting authority is responsible for the 

preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with the basis of accounting 

determined by the National Treasury, as set out in 

accounting policy note 1 to the financial statements and in 

the manner required by the Public Finance Management 

Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) and the Cultural 

Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998) and for such 

internal control as the accounting authority determines 

is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

The	Auditor-General’s	responsibility
3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the 

Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the 

Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and 

section 11 of the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 

119 of 1998), my responsibility is to express an opinion on 

these financial statements based on my audit.

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with the 

International Standards on Auditing read with General 

Notice 616 of 2008, issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 

15 May 2008. Those standards require that I comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement.

5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 

audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend 

on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment 

of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 

of the financial statements in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the financial statements.

6. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 

opinion.

Opinion	
7. In my opinion the financial statements present 

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

Iziko Museums of Cape Town as at 31 March 2009 and 

its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 

then ended, in accordance with the basis of accounting 

determined by the National Treasury, as set out in 

accounting policy note 1 to the financial statements and 

in the manner required by the PFMA.

Basis	of	accounting
8. The public entity’s policy is to prepare financial 

statements on the basis of accounting determined by the 

National Treasury, as set out in accounting policy note 1 

to the financial statements.

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION OF  
IZIKO MUSEUMS OF CAPE TOWN FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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Key	governance	responsibilities
9. The PFMA tasks the accounting authority with a number of responsibilities concerning financial and risk management 

and internal control. Fundamental to achieving this is the implementation of key governance responsibilities, which I 

have assessed as follows:

NO. MATTER Y N

Clear trail of supporting documentation that is easily available and provided in a timely manner

1.
No significant difficulties were experienced during the audit concerning delays or the availability of 
requested information.

Quality of financial statements and related management information

2. The financial statements were not subject to any material amendments resulting from the audit.

3. The annual report was submitted for consideration prior to the tabling of the auditor’s report.

Timeliness of financial statements and management information

4.
The annual financial statements were submitted for auditing as per the legislated deadlines section 55 of the 
PFMA.

Availability of key officials during audit

5. Key officials were available throughout the audit process.

Development and compliance with risk management, effective internal control and governance practices

6. Audit committee

The public entity had an audit committee in operation throughout the financial year.•	

The audit committee operates in accordance with approved, written terms of reference.•	

The audit committee substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in section 77 of the •	
PFMA and Treasury Regulation 27.1.8.

7. Internal audit

The public entity had an internal audit function in operation throughout the financial year.•	

The internal audit function operates in terms of an approved internal audit plan.•	

The internal audit function substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in Treasury •	
Regulation 27.2.

8.
There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in respect of 
financial and risk management.

9.
There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in respect of 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

10. The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of the financial statements.

11.
A risk assessment was conducted on a regular basis and a risk management strategy, which includes a fraud 
prevention plan, is documented and used as set out in Treasury Regulation 27.2.

12. Powers and duties have been assigned, as set out in section 56 of the  PFMA.

Follow-up of audit findings

13. The prior year audit findings have been substantially addressed.

14. SCOPA/Oversight resolutions have been substantially implemented.
No applicable 

resolutions

Issues relating to the reporting of performance information

15.
The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of a performance report that is 
accurate and complete.

16.
Adequate control processes and procedures are designed and implemented to ensure the accuracy and 
completeness of reported performance information.

17.
A strategic plan was prepared and approved for the financial year under review for purposes of monitoring 
the performance in relation to the budget and delivery by Iziko Museums of Cape Town against its mandate, 
predetermined objectives, outputs, indicators and targets. Treasury Regulation 30.1.

18.
There is a functioning performance management system and performance bonuses are only paid after 
proper assessment and approval by those charged with governance.



10. While the public entity received an unqualified audit 

opinion, material adjustments were made to the financial 

statements. Ongoing focus is required by management 

to further improve control activities (operational 

controls) and monitoring (ongoing monitoring) with 

support from internal audit.

11. Over and above the observations above, key issues 

that should receive the attention of those charged with 

governance were highlighted in the final management 

report of the public entity. Further refinements to 

the control activities (operational controls) and 

compliance thereto, including monitoring (ongoing 

monitoring) are required by management with support 

from internal audit.

Late	finalisation	of	the	audit
12. In terms of section 55(1)(d)(iii) of the PFMA, I am 

required to submit my report to the accounting authority 

within two months of the receipt of the financial 

statements. Due to internal processes to ensure that 

quality standards are maintained, as well as the late 

resolution of audit findings relating to adjustments to 

the financial statements, I have delayed the finalisation 

of my report, although the financial statements were 

received by 31 May 2009.

REPORT	ON	OTHER	LEGAL	AND	
REGULATORY	REQUIREMENTS

Report	on	performance	information
13. I have reviewed the performance information as set 

out on pages 8 to 25.

The	accounting	authority’s	responsibility	
for	the	performance	information
14. The accounting authority has additional 

responsibilities as required by section 55(2)(a) of the 

PFMA to ensure that the annual report and audited 

financial statements fairly present the performance 

against predetermined objectives of the public entity.

The	Auditor-General’s	responsibility
15. I conducted my engagement in accordance with 

section 13 of the PAA read with General Notice 616 of 2008, 

issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008. 

16. In terms of the foregoing my engagement included 

performing procedures of an audit nature to obtain 

sufficient appropriate evidence about the performance 

information and related systems, processes and 

procedures. The procedures selected depend on the 

auditor’s judgement.

17. I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for the findings 

reported below.

Findings	on	performance	information	
Non-compliance	with	regulatory	
requirements

Content	of	annual	performance	report
18. The annual performance report of the Iziko Museums 

of Cape Town did not include the targets of the entity’s 

programmes for 39 (100%) of the key objectives reported 

on, as required by Treasury Regulation 30.1.3(g).

Special	audits
19. As requested by the entity, an assurance engagement 

was conducted during the year under review concerning 

the expenditure of the National Research Foundation grants 

and grant-deposits awarded to the Iziko Museums of Cape 

Town during the period 1 January to 31 December 2008.

APPRECIATION

20. The assistance rendered by the staff of Iziko Museums 

of Cape Town during the audit is sincerely appreciated.

Cape Town

24 August 2009
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
The Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 

1999), as amended, requires the Council to ensure that Iziko 

Museums of Cape Town (Iziko) keeps full and proper records 

of its financial affairs.  The annual financial statements 

should fairly present the state of affairs of Iziko, its financial 

results, its performance against predetermined objectives 

and its financial position at the end of the year in terms 

of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) and the 

prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 

Practices (GRAP).

The annual financial statements are the responsibility 

of the Council.  The Auditor-General is responsible for 

independently auditing and reporting on the financial 

statements.  The Office of the Auditor-General has audited 

Iziko’s financial statements and the Auditor-General’s 

report appears on page 30. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the South African Statements of Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practices (GAAP) including any interpretation of 

such Statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board, 

with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised 

Accounting Practices (GRAP) issued by the Accounting 

Standards Board. These annual financial statements are 

based on appropriate accounting policies, supported by 

reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The Council has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and cash flow 

forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2009.  On the basis 

of the review, and in view of the current financial position, 

the Council has every reason to believe that Iziko will be 

a going concern in the year ahead and has continued to 

adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial 

statements.

The Council sets standards to enable management to 

meet the above responsibilities by implementing systems 

of internal control and risk management, where possible, 

that are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute 

assurance against material misstatements and losses.  

The entity maintains internal financial controls to provide 

assurance regarding:

The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use • 

or disposition.

The maintenance of proper accounting records and • 

the reliability of financial information used within 

Iziko or for publication.

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions 

are taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified.  Even 

an effective system of internal control, no matter how well 

designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility of 

circumvention or the overriding of controls. 

An effective system of internal control, therefore, aims 

to provide reasonable assurance with respect to the 

reliability of financial information and the presentation 

of financial statements.  However, because of changes in 

conditions, the effectiveness of internal financial controls 

may vary over time.

The Council has reviewed Iziko’s systems of internal control 

and risk management for the period from 1 April 2008 to

31 March 2009.  The Council is of the opinion that Iziko’s 

systems of internal control and risk management were 

effective for the period under review. 

In the opinion of the Council, based on the information 

available to date, the annual financial statements fairly 

present the financial position of Iziko at 31 March 2009 

and the results of its operations and cash flow information 

for the year, and that the Code of Corporate Practices and 

Conduct has been adhered to.

The annual financial statements for the year ended 31 

March 2009, set out on pages 37 to 69, were submitted 

for auditing on 31 May 2009 and approved by the 

Council in terms of section 51(1)(f) of the Public Finance 

Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended, 

and are signed on its behalf by:

Prof HC Bredekamp Prof E Links

Chief Executive Officer Chairperson of Council

Date: 6 August 2009



ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S 
REPORT FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
Report by the Council to the Executive Authority, Minister 

of Arts and Culture, and Parliament of the Republic of 

South Africa.

1.  General review of the   
  state of financial affairs
Iziko’s results for the year show satisfactory progress 

despite the adverse economic climate. There was 

a significant increase of 23% in cash and cash 

equivalents from R35,892,842 to R44,156,725. This 

growth is due to external funding, which is earmarked 

for specific projects that have a lifespan of two to 

three years, and management’s commitment to 

maximise revenue and reduce operational costs. 

Iziko received most of its funding through a subsidy 

allocation from the government, i.e. the National 

Department of Arts and Culture (DAC). During the year 

under review Iziko’s revenue increased by 17% from 

R53,649,483 to R62,930,582. Subsidy allocation 

from DAC was 71% of total revenue while 14% was 

through donor funding and 15% was own income 

generated through entrance fees, venue hire, rental 

of premises and professional museum services.  

Iziko’s operating expenditure for 2008/2009 

was R61,846,561. Operating expenditure includes 

63% (R38,921,191) fixed costs on personnel, 21% 

(R12,787,826) on administration and operational 

costs and 16% (R10,137,544) core function activities 

and special projects; 14% of core function activities 

and special projects was fully funded externally. Iziko 

is dependent on external funding for its core function 

programmes. External funding was received from 

national government agencies, research foundations, 

corporate business, and private individual donors.  

Despite the decrease in the net surplus, Iziko’s financial 

circumstances remain stable. While Iziko has received 

limited funding for its operations over the last few 

years, it practised good governance with regard to 

the managing of its funds, as well as compliance, 

where possible, with the Public Finance Management 

Act (PFMA) and observing the requirements of its 

funders.

While a great deal of work still lies ahead to improve 

the bottom line and meet the targets set in the 

Strategic Plan, the results for the year show progress, 

and management remains committed to achieving 

their strategic objectives.

2. Services rendered by Iziko
2.1 List of services rendered
Iziko’s core business is to manage and promote 

its unique combination of South Africa’s heritage 

collections, sites and services for the benefit of 

present and future generations. The services rendered 

by Iziko, in these areas, among others are Exhibitions, 

Education and Public Programmes (EPP), Collections 

Management (including loans to other institutions), 

Development of Collections, Conservation, Research, 

Curatorial Services and Publication (both popular and 

scientific).

The three Collections Departments offer, in 

collaboration with the EPP Department, exhibitions 

that meet the diverse needs of education and life-

long learning. The selection of exhibitions gives 

priority to correcting the imbalances of the past in 

the representation of art and social history, thus 

contributing to nation building, social cohesion and 

transformation.   

In addition to Iziko’s core business, services such as 

venue hire, outsourcing of coffee shops, museum 

retail shops and professional museum services, are 

rendered.  

2.2 Tariff policy
Tariffs are charged for entrance fees, rental of 

premises, venue hire, photographic services and 

professional museum services. Tariffs are negotiated 

at the outset of entering into a service agreement. 

Iziko reviews tariffs on an annual basis.
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3.  Capacity constraints  
During the year under review Executive Management 

continued the implementation of the re-aligned 

organisational structure to effectively and efficiently 

deliver the objectives of the Strategic Plan. Due to 

insufficient funding Iziko is not able to grow its human 

capital to its full potential and is unable to employ 

the necessary staff required to fulfil its core function 

activities to the maximum potential. An increase 

in the number of younger staff in key areas would 

allow for the transfer of skills, capacity development 

and succession planning. Executive Management 

continued to evaluate the efficiency of the re-aligned 

structure and to maximise opportunities to diversify 

our demographic profile. 

4. Utilisation of donor funds
Iziko received income of R8,672,285 through donor 

funding during the year under review. Funds were 

received from national government agencies, research 

foundations, corporate business, and private individual 

donors. The funds were earmarked and utilised for 

specific projects, such as acquisitions, exhibitions, 

conservation, research and education that have a 

lifespan of two to three years. These projects form 

an integral part of the museum’s core business and 

contributed significantly to Iziko’s success.

5.   Public entity
Iziko is listed as a schedule 3A national public entity in 

terms of the PFMA, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended 

by Act No. 29 of 1999) and is governed by the Cultural 

Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998). Iziko 

operates under the jurisdiction of the Council. DAC is 

the controlling entity. 

Business address:

25 Queen Victoria Street

Cape Town

8001

6.  Jurisdiction
Iziko resides and is effectively managed in South 

Africa. The controlling entity is DAC

7.  New/proposed activities
The professional staff in the Art, Natural History and 

Social History Collections departments are skilled in 

museum practice and in specialised areas of historical and 

scientific knowledge. They are well placed to pass on their 

skills, but Iziko needs funding to support trainee positions 

(esp. from previously disadvantaged communities).  

Completion of the major DPW refurbishment of the former 

National Mutual Building on Church Square to house the 

Iziko Social History Centre was scheduled for the last 

quarter of 2008, but hand-over was delayed to July 2009 

as a result of additional unforeseen construction work. The 

Social History Centre, which will bring together the formerly 

separate African and colonial collections, will become an 

important resource for the heritage sector and the public.

Major projects for the next three to five years include the 

upgrade of security systems at all Iziko museums, a capital 

works project to develop the courtyard at the SAM, the 

continued development of the Slave Lodge as a museum 

that focuses on both slavery and human rights, and the 

proposed development of a Centre for Contemporary Art in 

Cape Town. All Iziko museums are upgrading their services 

in preparation for the influx of visitors expected during the 

2010 World Cup. Special Iziko projects planned for 2010 

include an exhibition on the Kaapse Klopse Carnival at the 

Bo-Kaap Museum and Castle, a visual presentation at the 

SA Museum showing how Table Mountain was formed, art 

exhibitions inspired by football, education programmes 

that focus on the culture of sport, and a Mobile Museum 

programme celebrating soccer and science.

8.  Approval
The annual financial statements set out on pages 37 to 

69 have been approved by the Council.

Prof HC Bredekamp Prof E Links

Chief Executive Officer Chairperson of Council

Date:  6 August 2009

Postal address:

PO Box 61 

Cape Town 

8000



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Governance of the institution was streamlined through the operation of a system of committees of Council 

corresponding to three main functional areas: Core Functions, Institutional Advancement and Operations. In 

addition, an independent Audit Committee continued to offer professional advice on financial matters.  

During the year under review the internal audit unit under the direction of an Internal Auditor continued with the 

mandate of carrying out an effective internal audit of Iziko’s internal controls as informed by the relevant policies, 

systems and operating procedures. 

The Council recognises that good governance and compliance practices are crucial for the sustained development 

of Iziko and is committed to instilling good governance and compliance processes into all its operations going 

forward.

Risk	Management	
The Risk Management Committee continued with its mandate of identifying and evaluating the actual and potential 

areas of risk, ensuring that the necessary measures to proactively manage the risks are put in place. To this end, 

risk managers reviewed their risk registers and a revised risk register was developed. 

Risk management forms part of the key objectives of risk managers, and performance indicators are set against 

the agreed deliverables to measure the effectiveness of interventions in achieving the stated risk management 

objectives.

RISK	MANAGEMENT	STRUCTURE	

Materiality	and	Significance	Framework	for	2008/2009	Financial	Year
In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulation 28.1.5, the Council has developed and agreed to a 

framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance.

Executive Director Core Functions
(Risk Management Committee Member)

Executive Director Operations
Chief Risk Officer

Chief Executive Officer 
(Risk Management Committee Member)

Director 
Art Collections
Risk Manager

Director
Social History Collections

Risk Manager

Director
Natural History Collections

Risk Manager

Director
Education & Public Programmes

Risk Manager

Director 
Human Resources

Risk Manager

Director
Facilities Management

Risk Manager

Senior Manager
Customer Services 

Risk Manager

Director 
Institutional Advancement

Risk Manager
Chief Financial Officer

Risk Director
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	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED  31 MARCH 2009

 Notes 2009  2008

    Restated

  R  R

REVENUE  62,930,582  53,649,483

Government grant: Department of Arts & Culture  44,639,000  40,883,000

Sponsorship  8,672,285  4,782,150

Cash donations  85,796  106,431

Interest received  3,926,914  3,102,341

Admission fees  3,083,064  2,540,060

Rental and other income  2,523,523  2,235,501

Operating expenses     (61,846,561)  (50,116,472)

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 9  1,084,021    3,533,011 



 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 MARCH 2009

  Notes 2009 2008

    Restated 

   R R

ASSETS

Non-current assets  4,251,256 4,139,891

Property, plant and equipment 2.1 3,900,413 3,920,159

Intangible assets 2.2 350,843 219,732

 

Current assets  44,958,325 36,835,704

Inventories 3 161,786 12,857

Trade and other receivables 4 639,814 930,005

Cash and cash equivalents 5 44,156,725 35,892,842

Total assets  49,209,581 40,975,595

LIABILITIES    

Non-current liabilities  27,978,090 26,710,766

Deferred income 8 747,772 1,888,421

Provision: Post-employment medical benefit 7 27,230,318 24,822,345

Current liabilities  21,657,848 15,775,830

Trade and other payables 6 5,972,537 5,670,708

Provisions 7 503,684 455,124

Deferred income 8 5,885,497 9,649,998

Government grant  8.1 9,296,130  – 

Total liabillties  49,635,938 42,486,596

NET ASSETS   (426,357)  (1,511,001)

Accumulated funds   (428,553)  (1,513,197)  

Trust funds  2,196 2,196

Total net assets  49,209,581 40,975,595  
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 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

 Notes Accumulated Trust Fund Total
  deficit 

  Restated

  R R R

Accumulated Reserves  

Balance at 1 April 2007    (5,118,065) 2,196  (5,115,869)

Prior year adjustment 18 71,857 – 71,857

Surplus/ (Deficit) for the year  3,533,011 – 3,533,011

Balance at 31 March 2008  1,513,197 2,196 (1,511,001)

Balance at 1 April 2008  (1,513,197) 2,196 (1,511,001)

Prior year adjustment 18 623 – 623

Surplus/ (Deficit) for the year  1,084,021 – 1,084,021

Balance at 31 March 2009  (428,553) 2,196 (426,357)

 

 CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

  Notes 2009 2008

    Restated

   R R

Net cash inflow from operating activities   10,073,736 8,641,163

Cash generated from operations  10 6,146,822 5,538,822

Cash receipts from customers and donors   59,560,529 50,023,511

Cash paid to suppliers and employees    (53,413,707)  (44,484,689)

Interest received   3,926,914 3,102,341

Net cash outflow from investing activities    (1,809,853)  (1,795,982)

Purchase of fixed assets    (1,809,853)  (1,795,982)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets    – –

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   8,263,883 6,845,181

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year   35,892,842 29,047,661

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year   44,156,725   35,892,842



1. Accounting Policies
The financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with the South African Statements of 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practices (GAAP), 

including any interpretations of such Statements issued 

by the Accounting Practices Board, with the effective 

Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices 

(GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board 

replacing the equivalent GAAP Statement as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31 MARCH 2009

Standard of GRAP Replaced Statement of 
GAAP

GRAP 1: Presentation of 
financial statements

AC101: Presentation of 
financial statements

GRAP 2: Cash flow 
statements

AC118: Cash flow 
statements

GRAP 3: Accounting policies, 
changes in accounting 
estimates and errors

AC103: Accounting policies, 
changes in accounting 
estimates and errors

Standard of GRAP Replaced Statement of 
GAAP

Statement of financial 
performance

Income statement

Statement of financial 
position

Balance sheet

Statement of changes in net 
assets

Statement of changes in 
equity

Net assets Equity

Surplus/deficit Profit/loss

Accumulated surplus/deficit Retained earnings

Contributions from owners Share capital

Distributions to owners Dividends

Currently, the recognition and measurement principles 

in the above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ 

or result in material differences in items presented and 

disclosed in the financial statements. The implementation 

of GRAP 1, 2 and 3 has resulted in the following changes 

in the presentation of the financial statements:

Terminology differences:• 

The cash flow statement can only be prepared in • 

accordance with the direct method.

Specific information has been presented separately • 

on the Statement of Financial Position, such as:

a.  receivables from non-exchange transactions, 

including taxes and transfers;

b.  taxes and transfers payable;

c.  trade and other payables from non-exchange 

transactions.

Amount and nature of any restrictions on cash • 

balances is required.

Paragraph 11–15 of GRAP 1 has not been implemented 

due to the fact that the local and international budget 

reporting standard is not effective for this financial year. 

Although the inclusion of budget information would 

enhance the usefulness of the financial statements, non-

disclosure will not affect the objective of the financial 

statements.
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STANDARDS IN ISSUE NOT YET ADOPTED

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards were in issue, but not yet 
effective.

GRAP 4 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

GRAP 5 Borrowing Costs

GRAP 6 Consolidation and Separate Financial Statements (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 7 Investments in Associates (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 8 Interests in Joint Ventures (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 9 Revenue from Exchange Transactions (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 11 Construction Contracts (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 12 Inventories (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 13 Leases (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 16 Investment property (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 17 Property, Plant and Equipment (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 18 Segment Reporting (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 100 Non-current assets held for sale and Discontinued Operations (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 101 Agriculture (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 102 Intangible Assets (effective 1 April 2009)

GRAP 103 Heritage Assets (effective date to be determined)

IFRS 8 Operating Segments (effective 1 January 2009)

IAS 23 (amended) Borrowing Costs (effective 1 January 2009)

IAS 1 (amended) Presentation of Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2009)

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

IFRS 2 (amended) Share-based Payments – vesting conditions and cancellations (effective 1 January 2009)

IAS 27 (amended) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective 1 July 2009)

IFRS 3 (revised 2008) Business Combinations; IAS 27 (revised 2008): Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements; IAS 28 (revised 2008): Investment in Associates; and IAS 31 (revised 2008): 
Interest in Joint Ventures (effective 1 July 2009)



The following are the principal accounting policies 

of Iziko Museums of Cape Town (Iziko), which are 

consistent, in all material respects, with those applied 

in the previous year, except as otherwise indicated.

1. 1  Basis of Preparation	
The financial statements have been prepared on the 

historical cost basis. The Council has reviewed Iziko’s 

budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 

March 2009. On the basis of the review, and in view of 

the current financial position, the Council has every 

reason to believe that Iziko will be a going concern in 

the year ahead and has continued to adopt the going 

concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

1.2 Property, Plant and    
  Equipment
1.2.1	 Land	and	Buildings
Land and buildings are registered in the name of the 

Department of Public Works and are made available to 

Iziko on a permanent basis.

1.2.2	Vehicles,	Furniture	and	Equipment
Assets comprising vehicles, computer equipment, 

furniture and equipment are stated at historical 

cost less accumulated depreciation. Assets are 

depreciated over a period of between five to eight 

years on a straight-line basis over their estimated 

useful lives to the current value of their expected 

residual values. 

The useful life of the item of property, plant and 

equipment is the period over which the assets are 

expected to be available for use by Iziko. The residual 

value is the estimated amount that Iziko will receive 

from the sale of the asset if the asset were already of 

the age and in the condition expected at the end of 

the useful life. Motor vehicle residual value is based 

on estimated recovery for similar vehicles.

The useful lives and residual values of items of 

property, plant and equipment are reviewed on an 

annual basis. 

1.2.3	Acquisitions	of	Collections			 	
	 (Heritage	Assets)
In line with similar organisations, the value of 

collections (heritage assets) is not capitalised in the 

financial statements because it cannot be reliably 

measured. Heritage assets are not depreciated as 

their current residual value is expected to be greater 

than their carrying amount. Acquisition of collections, 

including library books, is recognised as an expense in 

the period in which it is incurred.

1.2.4	Impairment	of	Non-financial	Assets
Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed 

for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 

for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 

exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 

costs to sell and value in use. Non-financial assets 

that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 

reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

1.3 Intangible Assets
Intangible assets comprising of computer software 

are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 

and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is 

charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated 

useful life. The estimated useful life and amortisation 

method is reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period with the effect of any changes in estimate being 

accounted for on a prospective basis. The residual value 

of an intangible asset is assumed to be zero, as there is 

no expectation of disposing of it before the end of its 

economic life.

1.3.1	Impairment	of	Non-financial	Assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed 

for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 

for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 

exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
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costs to sell and value in use. Non-financial assets 

that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 

reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

1.4 Leases
1.4.1	Finance	Leases
No finance lease agreements are in place.

1.4.2	Operating	Leases
Operating leases are leases where the lessor retains 

the risk and reward of ownership of the underlying 

asset. Payments made under operating leases are 

charged to the statement of financial performance on 

a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

1.5 Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net 

realisable value. Merchandise is valued at cost on a 

first-in first-out basis. 

1.6 Deferred Income
Deferred income is income received for special projects 

that have a life cycle of at least two years and more. 

The income is recognised on a systematic basis over 

the periods necessary to match the income received 

with the related costs, which they are intended to 

compensate.

1.7 Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 

on Iziko’s statement of financial position when Iziko 

becomes a party to the contractual provision of the 

instrument. The carrying amounts of the financial 

assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one 

year are assumed to approximate their fair value due 

to the short-term trading cycle of these items.

Financial instruments carried on the statements of 

financial position include cash and cash equivalents, 

trade and other receivables and trade and other 

payables. These instruments are initially measured 

at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, these 

instruments are measured as set out below:

1.7.1	Trade	and	Other	Receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised 

at fair value and are subsequently measured at their 

amortised cost, using the effective interest method, 

less provision for doubtful debts. A provision for 

doubtful debts is determined by individually assessing 

debtors and where recovery appears to be doubtful. 

Bad debts are written off during the year in which 

they are identified.

1.7.2	Cash	and	Cash	Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which 

equates their fair value. Interest on cash in bank, call 

and notice deposits is accrued on a day-to-day basis.

1.7.3	Trade	and	Other	Payables
Trade and other payables are financial liabilities that 

are recognised when there is an obligation to transfer 

benefits and when the obligation is a contractual 

liability to deliver cash. Trade and other payables 

are categorised as a financial instrument under 

current liabilities, and are initially recognised at fair 

value. They are subsequently measured at amortised 

costs, using the effective interest rate method, where 

applicable.

1.8 Provisions
Provisions are recognised for a present legal 

obligation as a result of past events, for which it is 

probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 

be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the obligation.

1.9 Post-employment Benefit   
 Costs
Iziko offers post-employment benefits, comprising 

retirement benefits and post-retirement medical aid 

plans to their employees.

1.9.1	Pension	Plans
Iziko operates both defined contribution and defined 

benefit plans. The assets are generally held in 

three separate trustee-administered funds: Iziko 

Retirement Fund (a defined contribution fund), and 



two defined benefit funds, the Museums Pension 

Fund and Associated Institutions Pension Fund. The 

Associated Institutions Pension Fund is a State Plan.

Contributions to the pension plans are recognised as an 

expense in the year to which they relate.

1.9.1.1 Museums Pension Fund

The Museums Pension Fund consists of two categories, 

the defined contribution plan and defined benefit plan. 

The pension plans are generally funded by payments 

from Iziko and the employees, taking account of the 

recommendations of independent, qualified actuaries 

in the case of the defined benefit plan. For defined 

benefit plans, the defined obligation, the related 

current service cost, and, where applicable, past 

service costs, are determined by using the projected 

unit credit method.

The rules of the Museums Pension Fund were amended 

to include a defined contribution category and that no 

new members would join the defined benefit category 

with effect from 1 April 2003. 

All new employees appointed from 1 April 2003 joined 

the defined contribution category, while the existing 

participating employees remained members of the 

defined benefit category of the Museums Pension 

Fund at the existing contribution rate.

The Museums Pension Fund is a multi-employer 

fund where the entity is unable to determine its 

proportionate share of the fund’s obligation, and 

assets are treated as defined contribution plans. 

1.9.1.2 Iziko Retirement Fund

The Iziko Retirement Fund is a defined contribution 

fund. Payments to the defined contribution pension 

plan are charged to the statement of financial 

performance in the year to which they relate.

1.9.1.3 State Plan – Associated Institutions Pension Fund 

The Associated Institutions Pension Fund is a defined 

benefit fund operated by government. The pension 

fund is a multi-employer fund where the entity is 

unable to determine its proportionate share of the 

fund’s obligation and assets are treated as defined 

contribution plans. 

1.9.2	Post-employment	Medical	Benefit
Iziko provides post-employment healthcare benefits 

to its employees. The entitlement to post-retirement 

healthcare benefits is based on the employee 

remaining a contributing member of the medical aid 

schemes and remaining in the service up to retirement 

age. 

Post-employment healthcare benefits are based on 

the following subsidy policy:

An employee who joined the medical aid scheme • 

before 1 April 2004 contributed one third (1/3) of 

the total healthcare contribution, and Iziko the 

balance.

An employee who joined Iziko from 1 April 2004 • 

would, after retirement, pay 100% of the total 

healthcare contribution.

The assets are generally held in separate trustee-

administered medical aid funds, namely, Fedhealth 

and BESTmed Medical Scheme. 

Provision is made for post-retirement benefits. 

Valuation of these obligations is carried out by 

independent, qualified actuaries. Key assumptions 

concerning the future and other key sources of 

estimation uncertainty at the statement of financial 

position date are used for the post-employment 

benefits liability as per the actuarial valuation 

disclosed in note 15. The amount accrued for post-

retirement medical benefits is included within the 

non-current provisions. 

The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over 

the period of employment, using the projected unit 

credit method. Actuarial gains and losses arising from 

experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 

assumptions are charged to the statement of financial 

performance in full in the current period.     
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1.10 Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and 

cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank, 

as well as notice deposits held on call with banks. 

1.11 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised on the accrual basis, and 

comprises the fair value of the consideration received 

or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the 

ordinary course of Iziko’s activities.

Government grants are the subsidy allocation paid 

by DAC on a monthly basis. Government grants and 

donations received are accrued during the period in 

which Iziko became entitled to receive them.

Revenue from the sale of goods and services is 

recognised when significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods and services are transferred 

to the buyer.

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, 

taking account of the principal outstanding and the 

effective rate over the period of maturity.

1.12 Significant Accounting   
 Judgements, Estimates   
 and Assumptions 
The preparation of Iziko’s annual financial statements 

requires Management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 

disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting 

date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions 

and estimates could result in outcomes that require 

a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the 

asset or liability affected in future periods.

1.12.1 Judgements

In the process of applying Iziko’s accounting policies, 

Management has made the following judgements 

that have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognised in the annual financial statements:

Operating Lease Commitments • 

Iziko has entered into lease agreements for the 

leasing of fleet vehicles, photocopiers and berthing of 

the vessel, SAS Somerset. Iziko has determined, based 

on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the 

arrangements, that it does not retain the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership of the assets and 

property, and so accounts for the contracts as 

operating leases. It is assumed that the lessor will 

continue its business operations until the end of the 

lease period.

1.12.2 Estimates and Assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and 

other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

statement of financial position date, that have a 

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year, are discussed below: 

Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment • 

Iziko carries its assets at fair value, with changes 

in fair values being recognised in the statement of 

financial performance. Iziko engaged an independent 

specialist to determine its fair value as at 31 March 

2009. The approach to determine the fair value of 

property, plant and equipment was based on the 

principle to recalculate the remaining depreciation 

where the useful life was extended from 5 years 

to 7, and then calculate the effect on the financial 

statements.  

Post-employment Benefits • 

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other 

post employment medical benefits, as well as the 

present value of the pension obligation, is determined 

using actuarial valuations by an independent actuary. 

The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions 

about discount rates, expected rates of return of 

assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and 

future pension increases. The key assumptions used 

to determine the fair value of the pension and medical 

benefit fund assets are further explained in note 15. 



Litigation•	

A provision was raised for an amount in respect of an 

artwork that was donated to the SA National Gallery 

in 1985 as part of the former Natale Labia Museum 

display, and which cannot now be returned to the 

donor as it was lost, stolen or mislaid at the Natale 

Labia Museum. Iziko estimated a settlement amount 

of R300,000 although it is of the opinion that a much 

lower amount would constitute fair and reasonable 

compensation. Changes in this estimation could have 

an effect on the financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments •	

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial 

liabilities recorded in the statement of financial 

position cannot be derived from active markets, 

and therefore a degree of judgement is required 

in establishing fair values. The judgements include 

considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit 

risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these 

factors could affect the reported fair value of financial 

instruments.

Contingent Liabilities•	

There is uncertainty as to whether Iziko is liable for 

the settlement of the levies raised in relation to the 

compensation fund for the previously known SA 

National Gallery.  Changes in this assumption could 

have an effect on the financial statements.

1.13 Taxation
Iziko is exempt from taxation in terms of the provision 

of Section 10(1)(cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act, as 

amended.

1.14 Comparative Figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been 

adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the 

current year. 
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2.1 Property, Plant and Equipment
  2008

  Restated

 R  R  R  R  R

 Furniture Vehicles Equipment Computers  TOTAL

Gross carrying amount at beginning of year      680,192 805,128 2,870,317  3,411,590 7,767,227

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year (443,384)      (493,545) (1,622,152)  (2,197,062) (4,756,143)

Net carrying amount at beginning of year     236,808 311,583      1,248,165 1,214,528     3,011,084

Movements during the year          

Acquisitions  100,982 –  672,545 929,383 1,702,910

Disposals – –  (1,900) –       (1,900)

Re-estimation –    4,800 – –       4,800

Accumulated depreciation on disposals – –       54 –           54

Accumulated depreciation on re-estimated assets –     (4,800) – –      (4,800)

Depreciation expensed for the year  (96,480)   (12,600)        (401,532) (281,376)      (791,989)

Net carrying amount at end of year 241,310 298,983 1,517,332 1,862,535 3,920,159

Gross carrying amount at end of year 781,174 809,928 3,540,962 4,340,972 9,473,037

Accumulated depreciation at end of year (539,864) (510,945) (2,023,630) (2,478,438) (5,552,878)

  

  2009

 R  R  R  R  R

 Furniture Vehicles Equipment Computers  TOTAL

Gross carrying amount at beginning of year      781,174 809,928 3,540,962  4,340,972 9,473,037

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year (539,864)      (510,945) (2,023,630)  (2,478,438) (5,552,878)

Net carrying amount at beginning of year     241,310 298,983      1,517,332 1,862,535     3,920,159

Movements during the year          

Acquisitions  213,039 –  920,790 444,832 1,578,661

Disposals (7,506) (577,373)  (109,606) (215,512) (909,996) 

Accumulated depreciation on disposals 4,548 355,190       96,910 191,569 648,217

Depreciation expensed for the year  (148,122) (12,600)          (632,095) (543,810)  (1,336,627)

Net carrying amount at end of year 303,269 64,200 1,793,330 1,739,614 3,900,413

Gross carrying amount at end of year 986,707 232,555 4,352,146 4,570,293 10,141,701       

Accumulated depreciation at end of year (683,438) (168,355) (2,558,816) (2,830,679) (6,241,288)        

*The 2008 comparative figures were restated due to adjustments to the costs of assets, accumulated depreciation 

and disclosure of the intangible assets separately in note 2.2.



2.2 Intangible Assets
 2009 2008

  Restated

    R R

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 219,732 184,078

Cost 474,148 355,781

Accumulated amortisation (254,416) (171,703)

Current year movement 

Additions 231,192 118,367

Disposals (40,634) –

Accumulated amortisation on disposals       36,367 –

Amortisation expense for the year      (95,814)  (82,713)

Carrying amount at end of the year  350,843  219,732

Cost 664,706 474,148

Accumulated amortisation (313,863) (254,416)

3. Inventories
 2009 2008

 R R

Consumables – Lighting 132,724 –

Consumables – Cleaning materials     9,806 –

Consumables – Stationery  10,086 12,857

Finished Goods – Uniforms    9,170 –

      161,786        12,857

There are no 2008 comparative figures for lighting, cleaning materials and uniforms, as inventory items of this 

nature were not previously held in stock. During the period under review, a management decision was made to 

purchase consumables items in bulk, as this has economic benefits to Iziko.  

Included in the amount at the end of the year are inventory at a cost of R4,959 to be written off. At the time of 

reporting, Council has not yet approved the disposal of these inventory items.  

4. Trade and Other Receivables
 2009 2008

  Restated

 R R

Rent deposit   15,501  15,501

Accrued interest 186,907 208,131

Accounts receivable 609,998 598,736

Other receivables   46,336 122,597

        858,742        944,965

Provision for doubtful debts (218,928)  (14,960)

        639,814       930,005
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The 2008 comparative figures were restated to include rent deposit of R15,501 for berthing fees of the vessel, SAS 

Somerset, and adjustment to the amount owing of R122,597 by the West Coast Fossil Park Trust, Related Parties, 

described as a loan in note 17.2 during the prior year.

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents
 2009 2008

 R R

Call and notice deposit accounts 28,948,711 25,898,303

Cash at bank and on hand 15,208,014  9,994,539

  44,156,725 35,892,842

Call and notice deposit accounts are short-term, highly liquid investments that are held with registered banking 

institutions with maturities of three months or less, and are subject to insignificant interest rate risk. 

6. Trade and Other Payables
 2009 2008

  Restated

 R R

Deferred lease liability      11,617        8,304

Rent deposits      39,800      43,585

Leave pay 1,448,986 1,572,950

Annual bonus    806,442    734,982

Trade creditors and accruals 3,665,692 3,310,887

 5,972,537 5,670,708

The 2008 comparative figures were restated to include leave pay and bonus accrual disclosed as provisions during the 

prior year.

Leave Pay

Leave pay represents Iziko’s obligation to pay as a result of employees’ services provided up to the date of the 

Statement of Financial Position. The leave pay liability is measured as the additional amount that is expected to 

be paid as a result of unused leave entitlement that has accumulated as at the Statement of Financial Position 

date, taking into account the undiscounted amount of current cost to employer per employee. During the prior 

year, the leave pay liability was recognised as a provision. The comparative figures have been adjusted to conform 

to changes in presentation in the current year. 

Annual Bonus

Annual bonus represents Iziko’s obligation to pay as a result of pro-rata annual bonus for the period November 

2008 up to the Statement of Financial Position date of 31 March 2009 due to employees. The bonus liability 

is measured at the additional amount that is expected to be paid as a result of bonuses payable annually in 

November, retrospective for the period November to October of each year. During the prior year, the bonus 

liability was recognised as a provision. The comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 

presentation in the current year.



7 Provisions
7.1 Post-employment Pension Benefit 
The provision for post-employment pension benefit represents Iziko’s liability towards the unfunded actuarial 

liabilities for the defined pension and provident fund covering all participating employees. The valuation results 

as at 1 April 2007 show that no shortfall exists in respect of accrued liabilities and a funding level of 100.0% 

certifies that the Museums Pension Fund is currently in a financially sound position. 

The valuation results for the Museums Provident Fund as at 1 April 2007 show that a shortfall of approximately 

R278,000 exists in respect of accrued liabilities and a funding level of 93,3% certifies that the Museum’s Provident 

Fund is currently not in a financially sound position. The provision was raised for Iziko’s liability towards the 

defined provident fund benefits covering all participating employees.

 2009 2008

 R R

Gross carrying amount at beginning of year  155,124 –

Utilised during the year – –

 155,124 –

Increase/decrease in provision    48,560 155,124

Gross carrying amount at end of year       203,684       155,124

7.2 Post-employment Medical Benefit
The provision was raised for Iziko’s liability towards future post-employment medical benefits covering all 

participating employees and retirees.

 2009 2008

 R R

Gross carrying amount at beginning of year  24,822,345 22,755,813

Utilised during the year – –

 24,822,345 22,755,813

Increase in provision  2,407,973  2,066,532

Gross carrying amount at end of year    27,230,318    24,822,345

7.3 Litigation
Iziko is party to litigation in the Cape High Court in respect of an artwork that was donated to the SA National 

Gallery in 1985 as part of the former Natale Labia Museum display, and which cannot now be returned to the 

donor as it was lost, stolen or mislaid at the Natale Labia Museum sometime between 14 October and 14 November 

1988.  The parties are in dispute as to the current equivalent market value of this item.  Provision has been raised 

for a settlement amount of R300,000 although Iziko is of the opinion that a much lower amount would constitute 

fair and reasonable compensation.
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 2009 2008

 R R

Gross carrying amount at beginning of year  300,000 –

Utilised during the year – –

 300,000 –

Increase in provision – 300,000

Gross carrying amount at end of year 300,000 300,000

8. Deferred Income
Funds earmarked for specific projects are recorded as deferred income when they become receivable and are 

then recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods necessary to match the funds with the related 

costs that they are intended to compensate.

Projects per Department Number of Total deferred To be utilised To be utilised in
 projects income within one year Year 2 and thereafter

  R R R

Natural History Collections 20    955,143 955,143 –

Social History Collections 15 1,125,586 725,586 400,000

Art Collections 24    575,763 575,763 –

Education and Public Programmes 16    692,949 531,949 161,000

Facilities Management  1        3,136,233         3,000,000              136,233

Institutional Advancement 2     45,559 45,020       539

Internal Audit Function 1  102,036 52,036 50,000

Total         6,633,269         5,885,497             747,772

8.1 Government Grant
 2009

Funding received in advance from the Department of Arts and Culture R9,296,130

in respect of capital works projects for 2009/2010.



9. Net Surplus for the Year
Net surplus has been arrived at after charging:
 2009 2008 (Restated)

 R R

Personnel expenses      38,921,191   35,075,551

Salaries and benefits 36,464,658 32,881,046

Provision for post-employment benefits 2,456,533   2,194,505

Audit fees 636,406 603,680

Bank and legal costs   577,673 418,899

Consultants 661,830 403,511

Depreciation       1,336,627 791,989

Amortisation: intangible assets 95,814 82,713

Loss on disposal of assets 174,588 –

Operating leases   498,122 419,037

Insurance   324,167  422,878

Provision for doubtful debts   213,109  15,112

Provision for litigation – 300,000

Licences and networking fees 220,354 237,608

Library costs        475,525 396,253

Museum core function activities     10,137,544     6,232,219

Other operating expenses     7,573,611     4,717,022

   61,846,561   50,116,472

The 2008 comparative figures were restated to account for the straight-lining of operating lease expenses, 

intangible assets and recognition of minor assets as property, plant and equipment.         

10. Cash Flow Statement
10.1 Reconciliation of Cash Generated in Operations 
 2009 2008 (Restated)

 R R

Net surplus for the year 1,084,021 3,533,011

Adjustments:  

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment    1,336,627 791,989

Amortisation: intangible assets 95,814 82,713

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 261,779 –

Loss on disposal of intangible assets 4,267 –

Interest received   (3,926,914) (3,102,341)

Operating surplus/(deficit) before working capital changes   (1,144,406) 1,305,372

Working capital changes    7,290,605 4,161,593

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 290,192 (595,488)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories        (148,929)      28,162

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables    7,149,342 4,728,919

Prior period adjustments 623    71,857

Cash generated in operations    6,146,822    5,538,822
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11. Financial Instruments
Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position consist of trade and other payables, cash 

and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. The main risks arising from the financial instruments are 

credit and interest risks.

11.1 Credit Risk
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Council to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash 

and cash equivalents, as well as trade and other receivables. Iziko’s exposure to credit risk is insignificant. Credit 

risk is mitigated by the fact that Iziko only deposits and invests funds with registered banks.  

Accounts and Other Receivables

The maximum exposure to credit risks at the reporting date is the fair value of trade and other receivables as 

disclosed in note 4. The amount presented in the statement of financial position is net of provision for doubtful 

debts, estimated on prior experience and the current economic environment.

Debtors comprise of rental of facilities and professional services rendered. Management is of the opinion that 

these debtors are fully recoverable.

Other receivables include an amount of R46,337 due by the West Coast Fossil Park Trust for bridging finance 

provided by Iziko for the operating cost during the setting up of the Trust. In terms of this arrangement, this 

amount is fully recoverable. 

 2009 2008

 R R

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 44,156,725 35,892,842

Trade and other receivables 639,814 930,005

The age analysis of trade and other receivables that are past due, but not impaired at 31 March 2009, is as follows:

 R

 Current 503,469

 30 days 60,667

 60 days 10,563

 90 days 3,278

 90 days + 61,837

11.2 Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk

The Council is not locked into long-term interest rates because cash and cash equivalents are short-term 

investments held at registered banks with high credit ratings and therefore has low interest rate exposure on its 

bank accounts. These deposits attract interest at rates linked directly to the prime overdraft rate.

Currency and Other Price Risk

Iziko is not exposed to currency and other price risks.



11.3 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is managed by keeping sufficient cash available for funding through an adequate amount of 

committed credit facilities and the ability to move funds from short-term financial instruments. Iziko manages 

liquidity risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements, and optimises its cash return on investments. The Council 

is of the opinion that the net carrying value of the financial instruments approximate their fair value and that 

Iziko has sufficient cash available to settle its financial liabilities.

  2009 2008

 R R

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables 5,972,537 5,670,708

Maturity Analysis

The table below analyses Iziko’s financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the 

contractual maturity date.

2009 Less than 12 months Over 12 months

Trade payables    727,103 –

Accruals 1,425,999 –

Other payables  13,619,249 –

Unutilised project funding    5,885,497 747,772

Post-employment benefits liability – 27,230,318

  21,657,848 27,978,090

  

2008  

Trade payables   859,069 –

Accruals   966,904 –

Other payables 4,299,859 –

Unutilised project funding 9,649,998  1,888,421

Post-employment benefits liability – 24,822,345

 15,775,830 26,710,766

There are no fixed repayment terms for the post-employment benefits liability. This liability is dependent on the 

future actuarial valuation of the defined pensions fund and medical healthcare benefit plans.  

11.4 Fair Value of Financial Instruments
At year end, 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 

receivables, other payables, deferred income and provisions approximated their fair value due to the short-term 

maturities of these assets and liabilities. 
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11.5 Financial Instruments Per Category
11.5.1	Financial	Assets
 2009 2008

 R R

Loans and receivables 156,413 12,857

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 639,814 930,005

Cash and cash equivalents 44,156,725 35,892,842

 44,952,952 36,835,704

11.5.2	Financial	Liabilities
 2009 2008

 R R

Other liabilities at amortised cost

Trade payables 727,103 859,069

Accruals 1,425,999 966,904

Other payables 13,415,565 4,109,280

Unutilised project funding 6,633,269 11,538,419

Post-employment benefits liability 27,434,002 25,004,620

 49,635,938 42,478,292

12. Operating Leases
The operating leases comprise rentals charged for vehicles, berthing fees and photocopiers. The photocopier 

lease was settled during the year under review.  Rental of photocopiers continues on a monthly basis.  

The total future minimum lease payments are as follows:

 2009 2008

  Restated

 R R

Due within one year 550,969 271,758

Due between one to five years     1,875,905 2,426,874

 2,426,874 2,698,631

13. Change in Accounting Estimates 
At the end of the financial year under review, Iziko re-estimated the remaining useful lives of furniture, equipment 

and computers from five years to a further three years. This resulted in a depreciation surplus amounting to 

R12,374, written back to accumulated depreciation. 

 2009  2008

Net effect on Statement of Financial Performance R  R

Decrease in operating expenses   

Depreciation 12,374 327,293

Net effect on Statement of Financial Position   

Increase in assets   

Property, plant and equipment 12,374 327,293

Increase in equity    

Accumulated funds 12,374 327,293



14. Emoluments of Council, Audit Committee Members 
 and Executive

Emoluments of Council Members

 2009 2008

 R R

E Links (Chairperson) 3,435 2,600

R Du Pré   650 2,473

S Jeppie 3,025 3,733

M Ledimo – –

P Madiba – –

D Mitchell 5,200 6,500

R Nayagar (deceased) – 3,733

S Prosalendis 5,570 7,800

C Rassool 3,062 4,636

       20,942      31,475

The Council was appointed by the Minister of Arts and Culture effective from March 2007.   Council Members  

M Ledimo and P Madiba attended Council meetings, and as employees of other Public Entities, did not qualify to 

receive an honorarium.

Emoluments of Audit Committee Members

 2009 2008

 R R

D Mitchell (Chairperson) 2,500 1,500

R Du Pré 1,000 1,000

R Nayagar (deceased) 1,000 1,325

RG Nicholls (ex-Audit Committee member)  – 5,625

        4,500        9,450

The Audit Committee was appointed by the Council effective from 1 April 2007.  

Rate for Council Members is R650 per meeting attended. Rate for Audit Committee members is R1,000 per 

official audit committee meeting and R250 per hour, up to a maximum of R1,000, for ad-hoc committee meetings 

attended.
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Emoluments of CEO, Executive Directors, Directors and Senior Managers

	 	 2008

   Salaries Bonus Allowances Employer Other Total
      Contributions

Chief Executive Officer

Prof HC Bredekamp CEO   (reappointed: 

  1 November 2007) 584,144 42,623 109,954 160,408  897,129

Executive Directors       

Dr PJ Davison Core Functions  461,336 42,295 63,453 124,127  691,211

Ms V Baduza Operations  393,996 71,902 86,073 60,242  612,214

Chief Financial Officer       

Ms F Allie Chief Financial Officer 296,304 25,167 63,986 68,932  454,389

Directors/ Senior 
Managers

Ms VC Carelse Director Education &

  Public Programmes 255,636 21,884 63,986 76,096  417,602

Dr MA Cluver Director Facilities       

  Management 

  (until December 2007) 220,803 29,362 47,739 75,895  373,799

Ms D Crous  Director Human Resources 328,656 50,334 67,222      106,019    196,677* 748,908

Ms S Glanville-Zini Director Institutional       
  Advancement 
  (since December 2007)  74,408 – 18,757 16,891  110,056

Ms M Martin Director Art Collections 351,452 59,702 63,986 97,943  573,083

Ms JL Meltzer Director Social 

  History Collections 259,772 22,064 16,726 87,670  386,232

Dr HG Robertson Director Natural 

  History Collections 283,130 25,957 63,986 87,798  460,871

Mrs MG van der Merwe Senior Manager        
  Customer Services  232,364 18,836 75,705 86,095  413,000

Mr B Kadalie Exhibitions Manager       
  (until August 2007)  52,532 – –   8,536    61,068

    3,794,533   410,126    741,572   1,056,653 196,677*   6,199,562



 2009         

  Salaries Bonus Allowances Employer Other Total

        Contributions

Chief Executive Officer        

Prof HC Bredekamp CEO 758,676 65,291 119,460 199,492  1,142,919

Executive Directors       

Dr PJ Davison Core Functions  543,068 96,736 69,757 145,780    855,341

Ms V Baduza Operations  461,612 89,726 76,251  89,316    716,905

Chief Financial Officer       

Ms F Allie CFO 323,148 55,620 68,162  70,015    516,945

Directors        

Ms VC Carelse Education & Public       
 Programmes        
 (until 31 May 2008)  38,719 12,766 10,831  10,855    3,018 **  76,189

Ms D Crous Human Resources 323,148 55,620 68,695 108,895 206,783 * 763,141

Ms S Glanville-Zini Institutional Advancement 238,848 18,842 65,072 53,213  375,975

Ms M Martin Art Collections       
 (until 31 August 2008) 152,389 27,488 27,541 39,878 30,331 ** 277,627

Ms JL Meltzer Social History Collections  287,605 24,381 16,154 93,253  421,393

Dr HG Robertson Natural History Collections 333,284 57,364 68,694 97,346  556,688

Mrs MG van der Merwe Customer Services Manager  269,072 23,156 56,694 95,051  443,973

     3,729,569   526,990   647,311     1,003,094    240,132    6,147,096

Remuneration is shown at cost to company package, based on basic salary, bonuses, allowances and employee benefit 

contributions by Iziko up to the Statement of Financial Position date. Employee benefit contributions consist of pension, medical 

aid and other regulatory contributions. Remuneration costs are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance in the year 

to which they relate.

 *    In 2005, a dispute was referred to the Commissioner for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration (CCMA) by the Director 

Human Resources, challenging her non-appointment to the position of Executive Director Operations.  Pursuant to an award 

made by the CCMA on 10 December 2007, an amount of R196,677 was paid to the Director Human Resources on 30 March 2008.   

Further amounts totalling R206,783 have been paid during the year under review, as additional ongoing compensation for her 

non-appointment.  

**    Leave payout on resignation and retirement of Directors was made during the year under review.
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15. Post-employment Benefit Costs
15.1 Pension Fund 
Iziko operates pension funds that provide benefits on both defined benefit and defined contribution plans for 

all indefinite employees. The Iziko Retirement Fund and Museums Pension Fund are administered on behalf of 

Iziko by pension fund administrators and are governed by the Pensions Fund Act, 1956, as amended, while the 

Associated Institutions Pension Fund Act, 1963 (Act No. 41 of 1963) governs the Associated Institutions Pension 

Fund. An independent Board of Trustees manages each fund. 

The Museums Pension Fund is a multi-employer plan. The actuarial valuation is done for the plan in its entirety 

and does not specify, as a separate entity, Iziko’s obligation, plan assets or liability in terms of the fund. 

The Museums Pension Fund requires an actuarial valuation every three years. The defined benefit contribution 

plan fund was actuarially valued, using the projected unit credit method at 1 April 2006 and it revealed that 

the assets of the fund represented a funding position of 100.0% for the Museums Pension Fund and 93.3% for 

the Museums Provident Fund. Any deficit advised by the actuaries is funded through increased contributions to 

ensure the ongoing soundness of the pension fund. At the time of the valuation, the actuary reported that he 

was satisfied that the results of the Museums Pension Fund fairly represent the current financial position of the 

fund. In view thereof, the result shows a funding level of 100.0% and he certified that the fund is currently in a 

financially sound position. The actuary also reported that he was satisfied that the current composition of the 

investments of the Museums Provident Fund can be considered reasonable for the purpose of matching its assets 

and liabilities. 

The financial position of the fund as at 1 April 2006 compared to the financial position as at the previous valuation 

date is as follows:

Museums Pension Fund  1 April 2006  1 April 2005 1 April 2004

   R R R

Liabilities in respect of:

Defined contribution members 3,057,000 1,737,000 815,000

Defined benefit members

 Retirement benefits    94,782,000 86,297,000 69,860,000

 Withdrawal benefits      5,334,000 5,500,000 5,199,000

 Death benefits      7,565,000 7,162,000 5,730,000

Current pensioners    38,229,000 28,125,000 23,755,000

Risk reserve account  – 130,000 –

Employer surplus account    14,280,000 – –

Surplus apportionment cost reserve          39,000 36,000 30,000

Total liability  163,286,000 128,987,000 105,389,000

Less value placed on assets  163,286,000 122,340,000 96,727,000

Shortfall in respect of accrued liabilities – (6,647,000) (8,662,000)

Funding level  100.0% 94,8% 91,8%



Museums Provident Fund  1 April 2006 1 April 2005 1 April 2004

   R R R

Liabilities in respect of:   

Paid-up members  3,032,000 3,702,000 3,608,000

Current pensioners  1,051,000 488,000 478,000

Surplus apportionment cost reserve      39,000 33,000 30,000

Total liability  4,122,000 4,223,000 4,116,000

Less value placed on assets  3,844,000 3,981,000 3,727,000

Shortfall in respect of accrued liabilities (278,000) (242,000) (389,000)

Funding level  93,3%   94.3% 90,5%

The Museums Provident Fund funding level reduced to 93.3% mainly due to higher salary increases than expected. 

This shortfall of R278,000 can be funded from the benefit fund assets.

During the year under review, an additional provision of R48,560 was raised in the financial statements to 

increase  Iziko’s liability towards the Museums Provident Fund to R203,684. 

The rules of the Museums Pension Fund were amended to include a defined contribution category and that no new 

members will join the defined benefit category with effect from 1 April 2003. All new employees appointed with 

effect from 1 April 2003 will join the defined contribution category, while the existing participating employees will 

remain members of the defined benefit category of the Museums Pension Fund at the existing contribution rate.

Assumptions

Mortality

The published SA56–62 (ultimate) mortality rates have been used in respect of the period before retirement. 

In the case of female lives, their ages have been reduced by 3 years to allow for their higher life expectancy. 

In respect of the period after retirement, the published PA90 tables, rated down 1 year for males and females 

respectively have been used. Provision for future improvement in mortality is also provided for at a rate of 1% 

per annum from 1 April 2004.

Valuation Rate of Interest and General Inflation

A valuation rate of interest of 8,5% per annum (8,25% per annum at the previous actuarial valuation of the Fund) 

has been used in respect of the period before retirement, and 6,5% per annum in respect of the period after 

retirement of each member. The expected long-term general rate of inflation was assumed to be 4,5% per annum.

Contribution Rates

The following rates of contribution are applied:

Iziko Retirement Fund

Defined contribution category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual 

bonus) and the employer contributes 20.62%. All new employees appointed with effect from 1 July 2007 joining 

the Iziko Retirement Funds: the employer contributes 15%, while the contribution for existing participating 

employees remains the same.
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Museums Pension Fund

Defined benefit category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) 

and the employer contributes 24.6%.

Defined contribution category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) and the 

employer contributes 15%. The employer contribution rates can fluctuate as a result of changes to the insured benefit rate.

Associated Institutions Pension Fund

Defined benefit category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary only) and the employer 

contributes 12%.

15.2 Medical Aid 
Iziko operates a post-employment medical-benefit scheme that covers all employees that were appointed prior to 1 April 

2004. The medical schemes are funded by payments from retirees and Iziko. Iziko’s contribution to the medical schemes is 

charged to the statement of financial performance in the year to which it relates. The latest full valuation of Iziko’s liability 

in respect of post-employment medical benefits for the financial year end was performed on 31 March 2009 and it will be 

valued at yearly intervals thereafter. The actuary forecasted the expense for the year following the valuation date and the 

forecasted position at the year end following the valuation date, ignoring any gains or losses arising over the period. The 

liability was projected based on forty-two (42) retirees and sixty-five (65) employees participating as at 31 March 2009. 

Amounts for the current and previous four periods are as follows:

  2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

 R R R R R

Present value of funded obligations – – – – –

Fair value of plan assets – – – – –

Present value of unfunded obligations 27,230,318 24,822,345 22,755,813 20,973,000 19,453,000

Present value of obligations in excess of plan assets 27,230,318 24,822,345 22,755,813 20,973,000 19,453,000

Unrecognised transitional liability – – – – –

Unrecognised actuarial gains/(losses) – – – – –

Unrecognised past service cost – – – – –

Net Liability in Statement of Financial Position     27,230,318 24,822,345  22,755,813 20,973,000 19,453,000

Opening balance   24,822,345 22,755,813 20,973,000 19,453,000 –

Current service cost    598,773 583,675 663,000 663,000 622,000

Interest cost     2,345,725           1,816,087 1,776,464 1,621,000 1,503,000

Expected return on plan assets – – – – –

Liability recognised – – – – 18,045,000

Actuarial (gain)/loss 323,249              359,905  153,189 – –

Past service cost – – – – –

Expected employer benefit payments     (859,776) (693,134) (809,840) (764,000) (717,000)

  27,230,318         24,822,345 22,755,813 20,973,000 19,453,000



During the year under review, an additional provision of R2,407,973 was raised in the financial statements to 

increase  Iziko’s future liability towards the post-retirement employee medical benefit scheme to R27,230,318.  

Assumptions 
Changes in Valuation Basis 

The methodologies and assumptions used in this valuation have remained unchanged from those used in the 

previous valuation prepared by the Health Monitor Company. 

Net Discount Rate 

It is difficult to predict future investment returns and the rate at which medical contributions and claims will 

escalate in the future. Generally it is easier to predict the relationship between economic variables in the long 

term than the actual value of those variables in isolation. 

Healthcare cost inflation has exceeded the average inflation rate over the past few years, and this is expected to 

continue in the near future. This situation implies that medical scheme contributions will constitute a growing 

proportion of employee remuneration packages, which is not tenable in the long term. Furthermore, the general 

healthcare system in South Africa is in a state of flux at the moment and future changes in legislation and the 

national health system will necessarily affect medical scheme contributions. Therefore, any assumption regarding 

future increases in medical scheme contributions is necessarily subjective. 

General actuarial practice is to use a net discount rate (investment return less escalation rate of medical scheme 

contributions) of between 0% and 3%. We have used a net discount rate of 1.89% in this valuation. 

According to the Accounting Statements, IAS19, the rate used to discount post-employment benefits should be 

determined by reference to market yields on high quality corporate bonds. If a deep market on such bonds does 

not exist in the country, then the market rates on long-term government should be used. For this valuation we 

used an interest rate of 8.50%, being the approximate yield on the R186 bond at the date of finalising this report. 

This gives an implied assumption of long-term future inflation of medical scheme contributions of 6.49%.

Mortality Assumptions

The mortality assumptions used in the calculation of the liabilities were as follows:

Withdrawal and Retirement Assumptions 

An assumption regarding the rates of resignation and retirement of active members is necessary. If an employee 

leaves the service of the company by resigning, the company is no longer liable for post-retirement healthcare 

costs for that member. At normal or approved early-retirement, the subsidy commences immediately. 

Pre-retirement
Male SA 85–90 (light) 

Female SA 85–90 (light) rated down by 3 years

Post-retirement
Male PA90 (m)

Female PA90 (f)
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Sample assumed independent rates of resignation of active employees are as follows:

 Age Males Females

 20 16.0% 24.0%

 25 12.0% 18.0%

 30 10.0% 15.0%

 35 8.0% 10.0%

 40 6.0% 6.0%

 45 4.0% 4.0%

 50 2.0% 2.0%

 55+ 0.0% 0.0%

The retirement age was assumed to be 62 to allow for the possibility of early retirement. 

Family Statistics

The calculation of liabilities for pensioners was based on actual family statistics supplied (number of dependants 

and dates of birth of spouses). 

The calculation of liabilities in respect of current employees was based on assumed numbers of dependants and 

ages of dependants at each future age. 

Contribution Tables

The monthly medical scheme contributions used in the valuation of the contribution liability are follows: 

BESTmed Medical Scheme - Monthly contributions for the year ended 31 December 2009

Option (Income band) Main member Adult dependant Child dependant

Blueprint (R0 - R12 000) 573 540 342

Blueprint (R12 001 - R60 000) 723 552 342

Blueprint (R60 001 +) 804 615 342

Bonus Plus (R0 - R40 000) 1,089 762 228

Bonus Plus (R40 001 - R45 000) 1,224 855 258

Bonus Plus (R45 001 - R50 000) 1,319 930 279

Bonus Plus (R50 001 - R60 000) 1,416 990 297

Bonus Plus (R60 001 +) 1,464 1,026 306

Millennium Basic 699 543 294

Millennium Comprehensive 1,830 1,761 705

Millennium Standard 1,098 780 423

TopCare (R0 - R80 000) 1,941 1,554 360

TopCare (R80 001+) 2,331 1,863 390

Vitalcare 594 495 294



Fedhealth - Monthly contributions for the year ended 31 December 2008

Option Main member Adult dependant Child dependant

Maxima Plus 2,728 2,319 818

Maxima Standard 1,399 1,190 420

Maxima Basis 1,131 961 339

Maxima Core 896 687 313

Ultimax 3,677 3,125 1,103

Ultima 300 2,551 2,168 765

Ultima 200 incl OHEB 1,631 1,387 1,019

Ultima 200 excl OHEB 1,167 462 350

Other Assumptions

The valuation was based on the current subsidy levels specified in the data provided. 

We also assumed that no significant changes would occur in the structure of the medical arrangements. We have used 

the current subsidy scales for members as bases for the calculations and have assumed that the scales will remain 

unchanged (apart for adjustments for inflation). If this is not the case, the results of this valuation will be affected.

Sensitivity Analysis 

The results above are particularly sensitive to changes in the assumption regarding future increases in medical 

scheme contributions. This is illustrated in the tables below. 

The following tables illustrate the impact of a 1% increase and decrease in the assumed future rate of medical inflation:

Sensitivity analysis - F2009 Accounting Entries:

  Base Inflation + 1% % Change Inflation -1% % change

Liability as at 1 April 2008 24,822 24,822 0.0% 24,822 0.0%

Settlements -860 -860 0.0% -860 0.0%

Current service costs 599 599 0.0% 599 0.0%

Interest cost 2,346 2,346 0.0% 2,346 0.0%

Actuarial (gain)/ loss 323 4,375 1253.5% -2,943 -1010.4%

Liability as at 31 March 2009 27,230 31,282 14.9% 23,964 -12.0%

Sensitivity analysis - F2010 Accounting Entries (projected):

  Base Inflation + 1% % change Inflation– 1% % change

Liability as at 1 April 2009  27,230 31,282 14.9% 23,964 -12.0%

Settlements  -998 -1,001 0.3% -996 -0.3%

Current service costs  594 723 21.6% 495 -16.7%

Interest cost  2,297 2,647 15.2% 2,016 -12.3%

Actuarial (gain)/ loss  0 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Liability as at 31 March 2010  29,124 33,651 15.5% 25,479 -12.5%
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16. Contingent Liability
 2009

 R

Compensation Fund 35,888

In July 2009, WCA issued an assessment against the SA National Gallery amounting to R35,888. This amount is in 

respect of levies relating to the period December 2000 to February 2002 for the SA National Gallery, prior to the 

amalgamation of Iziko. The outcome of this assessment is uncertain.

17. Related Parties
17.1 Department of Arts and Culture 
The controlling entity of Iziko is the Department of Arts and Culture, who provided a subsidy grant for its operations 

as well as funding for special projects during the year under review. The details of the transactions are as follows:

 2009 2008

 R R

Amount of transaction  

Subsidy grant 44,639,000 40,883,000

Special projects 411,887   1,238,300 

Income received of advance 9,296,130 –

Services rendered – 11,192

Outstanding balance at 31 March    258,739         1,216

Provision for doubtful debts i.r.o. outstanding balance    191,802          –

Expenses recognised i.r.o. doubtful debts         –       –

The subsidy grant will continue during the next three financial years. The debt is not secured and no guarantees 

were given. It is expected that the outstanding amount will be settled in 2009/2010.

17.2 West Coast Fossil Park Trust
Iziko accepted the donation of the West Coast Fossil Park from Samancor Limited and agreed to the formation of 

the West Coast Fossil Park Trust (Trust). In the prior year all income and expenditure of the Trust were recognised 

in the annual financial statements of Iziko. During the year under review the Trust paid R76,260 towards its 

obligation to Iziko in respect of expenses incurred on its behalf. 

The details of the transaction are as follows:

 2009 2008

  Restated

 R R

Amount of transaction 76,260    631,683

Outstanding balance at 31 March 2009 46,337    122,597

Provision for doubtful debts i.r.o. outstanding balance – –

Expenses recognised i.r.o. doubtful debts – –



17.3 Castle of Good Hope
The Iziko William Fehr Collection is housed at the Castle of Good Hope and there is an agreement that Iziko will 

receive one third (1/3) of the admission fees.

 2009 2008

 R R

Amount of transaction 638,478 651,066

Outstanding balance at 31 March 2009 – –    

Provision for doubtful debts i.r.o. outstanding balance – –    

Expenses recognised i.r.o. doubtful debts – –    

18. Prior Period Errors
The comparative figures in the statement of changes in net assets were restated due to the following adjustments:

 2009 2008

 R R

Receivables: Payments in advance  – 95,863

Property, plant and equipment 623 (24,006)

 623 71,857

18.1 Receivables: Payments made in advance
In March 2007 a payment made in advance for a deposit on point of sales systems was erroneously included in 

the operating expenses. The effect of this adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position 

 2009 2008

 R R

Increase in receivables – 95,863

Decrease in operating surplus – 95,863

18.2 Property, Plant and Equipment
Prior to the current year, consumable items that were disposed of with the de-installation of exhibitions were 

included as property, plant and equipment. The gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation of the 

assets were restated. The effect of this adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position

 2009 2008

 R R 

Decrease in property, plant and equipment 623 104,431

Decrease in accumulated depreciation  – 80,371
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An asset purchased in March 2007 was returned to the supplier in April 2008. The depreciation relating to this 

asset was reversed. The effect of this adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position

 2009 2008

 R R

Decrease in accumulated depreciation – 54

Increase in operating surplus – 54

Minor capital assets were expensed upon acquisition. In terms of IAS 16, these items are tangible assets that are used 

in the supply of goods and services, and are expected to be used during more than one period. The gross carrying 

amount and accumulated depreciation of the assets were restated. The effect of this adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position 

 2009 2008 

 R R

Increase in property, plant and equipment 87,231 94,767

Increase in intangible assets 2,165 12,155

Increase in accumulated depreciation 87,231 94,767

Increase in accumulated amortisation 2,165 12,155

Increase in depreciation 87,231 94,767

Increase in amortisation expense 2,165 12,155

18.3 Operating Leases
Prior to the current year, the contract for the leasing of the space for the berthing of the vessel, SAS Somerset was 

treated as an expense. In terms of IAS 17 on leases, the berthing contract must be classified as an operating lease, 

and the lease shall be recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The effect of this 

adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Performance 

 2009 2008

 R R

Increase in cost of operating leases – 8,304

Decrease in operating surplus – 8,304



18.4 Housing Guarantee
In the prior year a provision was raised relating to first mortgage bonds in respect of 100% housing loan guarantees 

on behalf of employees who are members of the Iziko Retirement Fund. In terms of IAS 37, it was established that 

Iziko does not have a present obligation, and therefore no provision was raised during the current year. The effect 

of this adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position 

    

 2009 2008

 R R

Decrease in provisions – 27,151

Increase in operating surplus – 27,151

18.5 Receivables: West Coast Fossil Park Trust
After evaluating all transactions between Iziko and the West Coast Fossil Park, the amount owing was restated to 

accurately reflect the balance due to Iziko. The effect of this adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position

 2009 2008

 R R

Decrease in receivables – 451,150

Decrease in operating surplus –                451,150

18.6 Rent Deposit
Prior to the current year, the deposit for the leasing of the space for the berthing of the vessel, SAS Somerset, was 

treated as an expense. The effect of this adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position 

 2009 2008

 R R

Increase in receivables – 15,501

Increase in operating surplus – 15,501

18.7 Intangible Assets
Prior to the current year, computer software was disclosed as part of property, plant and equipment. In terms of 

IAS 38, computer software must be classified as intangible assets, which are identifiable non-monetary assets 

without physical substance. The effect of this adjustment is as follows:

Net effect on the Statement of Financial Position

 2009 2008

 R R

Decrease in property, plant and equipment 214,080  461,993

Decrease in accumulated depreciation 82,969 242,261



A N N U A L  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S     |  PAGE 69

19. Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)
19.1 Section 55(2)
No material losses due to criminal conduct, nor any unauthorised expenditure, irregular expenditure or fruitless 

and wasteful expenditure have occurred during the current financial year. 

19.2 Section 53(3)
The Council may not accumulate surpluses unless prior written approval of the National Treasury has been 

obtained. Application was made to the National Treasury, via the Department of Arts & Culture, to be exempted 

from investing Iziko’s surplus funds with the Corporation for Public Deposits, as prescribed in Treasury Regulation 31. 

The implication of section 53(3) of the PFMA is that public entities have to apply to National Treasury to retain 

the surplus that they have accumulated by the end of each financial year. Iziko had an accumulated deficit at 

31 March 2009, and approval was therefore not required.

19.3 Section 54(2)
In terms of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 28.1.5, the Council has developed and agreed to a framework of 

acceptable levels of materiality and significance. 



3. HUMAN 
RESOURCE    
MANAGEMENT

Opening of Albert Adams: Journey on a Tightrope at the Iziko South African National Gallery on 19 July 2008.
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3.1 Expenditure
As at 31 March 2009 there were 245 staff members in the employ of Iziko, comprising 193 staff members appointed 

indefinitely and 52 appointed on a fixed-term contract.  The 52 staff members appointed on a fixed-term contract 

include five whose salaries were funded externally.

TABLE 1. PERSONNEL COST 2008-9

Average Personnel Cost Per Employee

The cost per employee increased compared to the previous financial year due to a 10.5% salary increase and the 

changing of four positions to a higher grade.  In terms of the performance management reward system, 42 staff 

members also advanced to a higher salary notch, and 15 received a once-off performance bonus.  

Training Expenditure

Iziko spends 1% of the salary budget per annum on learning and development.  It must be noted that the percentage 

of the salary budget is calculated in terms of the Skills Development Levies Act No. 9 of 1999 and not on the total 

personnel expenditure.  Training expenditure is therefore less than 1% of the personnel expenditure.

TABLE 2. DETAILS OF THE 2008-9 SALARY EXPENDITURE 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

PERSONNEL 

EXPENDITURE

TRAINING 

EXPENDITURE

CONSULTANCY 

SERVICES

PERSONNEL 

COSTS AS 

% OF TOTAL 

EXPENDITURE

AVERAGE 

PERSONNEL 

COST PER 

EMPLOYEE

R 61,846,561 R 38,921,191 R 296,166 R 661,830 62.93% R 158,862

SALARIES OVERTIME HOUSING SUBSIDY

Amount
Salaries as a % 
of personnel cost

Amount
Overtime as a % 
of personnel cost

Amount
Housing Subsidy 
as a % of 
personnel cost

R 24,101,734 61.93% R 837,969 2.15% R 617,533 1.59%

MEDICAL AID CONTRIBUTIONS 

(STAFF)

MEDICAL AID CONTRIBUTIONS 

(PENSIONERS)
PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS

Amount

Medical Aid 
Contributions 
(Staff) as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount

Medical Aid 
Contributions 
(Pensioners) as 
a % of personnel 
cost

Amount

Pension 
Contributions as 
a % of personnel 
cost

R 1,835,490 4.71% R 875,718 2.25% R 4,517,603 11.61%

FIXED ALLOWANCES
OTHER ALLOWANCES FOR 

ADDITIONAL WORK
LECTURE FEES

Amount
Fixed Allowances 
as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount
Other Allowances  
as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount
Lecture Fees as 
a % of personnel 
cost

R 651,529 1.67% R 344,784 0.89% R 29,660 0.08%
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ANNUAL BONUSES
ONCE-OFF PERFORMANCE 

BONUSES
SUBSISTENCE & TRAVEL

Amount
Annual Bonuses 
as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount

Once-off 
Performance 
Bonuses as a % 
of personnel cost

Amount
Subsistence & 
Travel as a % of 
personnel cost

R 2,036,539 5.23% R 314,580 0.81% R 109,969 0.28%

TOTAL PERSONNEL EXPENDITURE

Amount Percentage

R38,921,191 100%

Salaries

Salary expenditure increased from R22,062,001 to R24,101,734 mainly due to salary improvements.

Considering the economic climate and related factors, Council approved a salary increase of 10.5% for staff.

Overtime

The overtime expenditure increased from R825,698 to R837,969 since the last reporting period, mainly due to 

the increase in salaries.

Most Iziko museums are open to the public over weekends and on public holidays, thus Customer Services staff 

members are required to work on Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, which accounts for most of the overtime 

expenditure.

Iziko also generates a substantial income from venue hire, and Customer Services staff perform security duties 

after working hours. This cost is also reflected in the overtime expenditure.

Housing Subsidies

The amount spent on housing subsidies decreased from R684,247 to R617,533 due to a policy decision that staff 

members appointed after 30 April 2005 would receive a housing subsidy of R500 while those appointed before 

that date would continue to receive a housing subsidy of R1,000.  As the latter staff retired or resigned and vacant 

positions were filled with new employees receiving a lower housing subsidy, the overall cost to Iziko of housing 

subsidies decreased.

Two staff members also paid off their bonds in this reporting period.

Medical Aid Contributions (Staff)

Medical aid contributions increased from R1,757,660 to R1,835,490 due to the increase in medical aid fees.

STATUTORY LEVIES (UIF & WCA) PLACEMENT FEES
LEAVE GRATUITIES ON 

TERMINATION

Amount
Statutory 
Levies as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount
Placement 
Fees as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount

Leave Gratuities 
on Termination 
as a % of 
personnel cost

R 270,062 0.69% R 61,321 0.16% R 27,212 0.06%



Medical Aid Contributions (Pensioners)

Medical aid contributions increased from R726,713 to 

R875,718 due to the increase in medical aid fees, but 

also due to three staff members who were members 

of a medical aid retiring in the reporting period, 

thereby increasing the number of pensioners who are 

members of a medical aid.

New staff members no longer have the benefit of post-

retirement medical aid.

Pension Contributions

Pension contributions are based on pensionable salary, 

so when salaries increase the pension contributions 

also increase. Pension contributions increased from 

R4,302,612 to R4,517,603.

Fixed Allowances

The amount spent on fixed allowances decreased from 

R700,696 to R651,529 mainly due to two Director 

positions being vacant for a few months.

Other Allowances for Additional Work

Once-off allowances comprised mainly allowances paid 

to staff members who took on additional duties when 

positions were vacant for a few months.  This expenditure 

increased from R313,735 to R344,784 due to managers 

deputising while Director positions were vacant.

Lecture Fees

Lecture fees increased from R16,170 to R29,660 due to 

the increase in tariffs which was implemented during the 

reporting period.

Annual Bonus

Annual bonuses are also linked to salaries, so it is expected 

that the expenditure on annual bonus increased. The 

expenditure increased from R1,634,537 to R2,036,539.

Once-off Performance Bonuses

Staff members received a once-off performance bonus 

if they were already paid at the top notch of their grade 

and those on the first and second notches progressed to 

the next higher salary notch.

Although only 15 staff members received a once-off 

performance bonus, there was an increase from R108,011 

to R314,580 due to a salary increase effected prior to 

the awards, as well as more staff members being on the 

top notch in the reporting year.

Subsistence and Travel 

This amount decreased from R157,613 to R109,969 

and does not include subsistence and travel expenses 

related to special projects.

Statutory Levies

UIF and WCA directly relate to salaries, which accounted 

for the increase from R253,064 to R270,062.

Placement Fees

Placement fees increased from R28,762 to R61,321, 

mainly due to salary increases and the need to headhunt 

for a manager position in terms of the Recruitment and 

Selection Policy when no suitable applicant could be 

found from an advertisement in the media. Placement 

fees also include travel and accomodation costs related 

to placement.

Leave Gratuities

The decrease in leave gratuity from R92,511 to R27,212 

was mainly due to the fact that most staff members 

had taken their capped leave. As at 31 March 2009 staff 

members no longer had capped leave.

3.2 Employment and Vacancies
Appointments and Vacancies

Twenty-one staff members were appointed indefinitely 

in the reporting period.  

In February 2008 an advertisement for 14 positions 

was placed in the media and positions were filled in this 

reporting period.

Three interns from the Department of Arts and Culture 

did their internship at Iziko. During his internship, 

one of the interns, an African male, responded to the 

external advertisement for an Assistant Librarian in the 

Social History Collections Department and was found 
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to be the most suitable applicant. The other two interns 

found employment in the private sector.

In June 2008 the positions of Director Art Collections and 

Director Education & Public Programmes were advertised 

in the media.  The most suitable candidate for the position 

Director Art Collections, an Indian male, accepted an offer 

in this reporting period and took up the position on 1 May 

2009.  As no suitable candidate was found for the position 

Director Education & Public Programmes, the process of 

headhunting has commenced in terms of the Recruitment 

and Selection Policy.

In September 2008 an advertisement for five positions 

was placed in the media and appointments were made in 

the months that followed.

Council granted special permission for some positions to 

be advertised internally only in order to create promotion 

opportunities for staff.  For example, the position Assistant 

Curator in the Social History Collections Department was 

filled internally by a Social History Museum Educator who 

will take up the position on 1 April 2009.

Vacant positions will be advertised in the next reporting 

period.

Terminations

In the reporting period, the services of 27 staff members 

appointed indefinitely were terminated.  Seventeen staff 

members resigned, six staff members retired, three were 

dismissed and one passed away.

3.3 Job Evaluation
When changes in the organisational structure were 

implemented, new positions in the structure were 

evaluated and graded. In this year, the position Coordinator 

Exhibitions and Site Development was graded.

The grades of four positions were amended due to staff 

members taking on additional responsibilities.  

Dr Hamish Robertson, Director of Natural History 
Collections excavates an ant nest near Prince Albert in the 
Karoo, April 2008.



3.4 Employment Changes

TABLE 3.  ANNUAL TURNOVER RATE BY SALARY LEVELS FOR THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2008 TO 31 MARCH 2009

Note: Although 10 contracts expired on 31 March 2009, these employees are included in the total number of staff 

members as at 31 March 2009.

Promotions

There were five promotions in the reporting period.  The seconded trainee Marketing & PR Coordinator was 

appointed to Assistant Coordinator Marketing & PR.  The Assistant Photographer was appointed to Photographer, 

a Head Attendant was appointed as Site Manager, while two staff members from the Exhibitions Department were 

appointed as Display Technicians.

Development of Organisational Structure

When five museums merged to form Iziko Museums of Cape Town in terms of the Cultural Institutions Act No. 

119 of 1998, Iziko had to accommodate all staff members. For example, all staff members from the five Finance & 

OCCUPATIONAL 

LEVELS

NUMBER 

OF STAFF 

MEMBERS 

ON 1 

APRIL 

2008

APPOINTMENTS 

AND 

TRANSFERS 

INTO THE 

INSTITUTION

TERMINATIONS 

AND 

TRANSFERS 

OUT OF THE 

INSTITUTION

TURNOVER 

RATE

TRANSFERS 

INTO LEVEL

TRANSFERS 

FROM LEVEL

NUMBER 

OF STAFF 

MEMBERS 

ON 31 

MARCH 

2009

Senior 
management

3 0 0 0.00% 1 0 4

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid-management

8 0 2 40% 0 1 5

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents

105 11 13 12.15% 4 0 107

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-making

80 10 12 16.22% 0 4 74

Unskilled and 
defined 
decision-making

3 0 0 0.00% 0 0 3

Total Indefinite 
Employees

199 21 27 13.99% 5 5 193

Contract 
employees

40 50 38 73.08% 0 0 52

Total 239 71 65 26.53% 5 5 245
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OCCUPATIONAL 

LEVELS

NUMBER 

OF STAFF 

MEMBERS 

ON 1 

APRIL 

2008

APPOINTMENTS 

AND 

TRANSFERS 

INTO THE 

INSTITUTION

TERMINATIONS 

AND 

TRANSFERS 

OUT OF THE 

INSTITUTION

TURNOVER 

RATE

TRANSFERS 

INTO LEVEL

TRANSFERS 

FROM LEVEL

NUMBER 

OF STAFF 

MEMBERS 

ON 31 

MARCH 

2009

Senior 
management

3 0 0 0.00% 1 0 4

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid-management

8 0 2 40% 0 1 5

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents

105 11 13 12.15% 4 0 107

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-making

80 10 12 16.22% 0 4 74

Unskilled and 
defined 
decision-making

3 0 0 0.00% 0 0 3

Total Indefinite 
Employees

199 21 27 13.99% 5 5 193

Contract 
employees

40 50 38 73.08% 0 0 52

Total 239 71 65 26.53% 5 5 245

Administration Departments that merged could not be accommodated in the Iziko Finance & Administration 

Department, so the supernumerary staff members had to be deployed to other departments and reskilled to 

perform their new duties.  

Thereafter, Iziko implemented a strategy to review all positions that became vacant in terms of structural and 

operational effectiveness. During the reporting year, the in-house printing facility was discontinued as the 

equipment used had become obsolete.  This function will be outsourced, while a state-of-the-art photocopier will 

be purchased to deal with a limited number of in-house publications.

Also, when the positions Exhibitions Manager and Administrative Assistant to the Exhibitions Department became 

vacant, the structure of the Exhibitions Department was reviewed and decentralised so that each Collections 

Department would have its own exhibitions team. 

Staff Numbers in 2007-8 and 2008-9

TABLE 4. REASONS WHY STAFF MEMBERS ARE LEAVING THE INSTITUTION

The turnover rate in the last reporting period was 25.73%.

Dismissals

Three staff members appointed indefinitely and one staff member on contract were dismissed due to misconduct, 

two for dishonesty, one for absenteeism and one for absconding.

TERMINATION TYPE NUMBER % OF TOTAL

Death 1 0.41%

Resignations 20 8.16%

Expiry of Contract 34 13.88%

Dismissal – operational changes 0 0.00%

Dismissal – misconduct 4 1.63%

Dismissal – inefficiency 0 0.00%

Discharges due to ill health 0 0.00%

Retirement 6 2.45%

Other 0 0.00%

Total 65

Total number of employees who left 
as a % of the total employment at 
31 March 2009

26.53%



3.5 Employment Equity
TABLE 5. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OF THE FOLLOWING OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS 

ON 31 MARCH 2009

TABLE 6. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OF THE FOLLOWING OCCUPATIONAL CATEGORIES 

ON 31 MARCH 2009

Iziko employs the strategy that, if the most suitable applicant is white and there is no other applicant who is close to 

suitable, then the most suitable applicant gets appointed on a fixed-term contract and it is written into his/her contract 

that the person must transfer skills to a black employee(s).

OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS

MALE FEMALE

WHITE 

MALE

FOREIGN 

NATIONALS

TOTALA C I A C I W W MALE FEMALE

Top management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior management 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 3

Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and mid-
management

0 0 0 0 1 0 4 1 0 0 6

Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors, foremen, 
and superintendents

5 20 1 12 27 1 26 17 1 2 112

Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision-making

22 28 0 26 28 0 1 2 3 0 110

Unskilled and defined decision-
making

1 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4

TOTAL PERMANENT 28 51 1 39 57 1 32 20 4 2 235

Non–permanent employees 0 0 0 3 3 0 4 0 0 0 10

GRAND TOTAL 28 51 1 42 60 1 36 20 4 2 245

OCCUPATIONAL CATEGORIES

MALE FEMALE

WHITE 

MALE

FOREIGN 

NATIONALS

TOTALA C I A C I W W MALE FEMALE

Legislators, senior officials and 
managers

0 1 0 1 1 0 5 1 0 0 9

Professionals 0 2 0 0 2 0 6 10 0 1 21

Technicians and associate 
professionals

5 13 1 7 13 1 17 7 1 1 66

Clerks 0 2 0 6 10 0 1 0 0 0 19

Service and sales workers 20 21 0 20 27 0 2 1 1 0 92

Skilled agricultural and fishery 
workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Craft and related trades workers 2 8 0 5 3 0 0 1 2 2 21

Plant and machine operators and 
assemblers

0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Elementary occupations 1 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 4

TOTAL PERMANENT 28 51 1 39 57 1 32 20 4 2 235

Non–permanent employees 0 0 0 3 3 0 4 0 0 0 10

GRAND TOTAL 28 51 1 42 60 1 36 20 4 2 245
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The table below reflects the progress made towards ensuring representivity in our workforce profile since the 2003-4 

reporting period.

TABLE 7.  COMPARISON OF THE WORKFORCE PROFILES OF 2003-4 AND 2008-9

Note: The 2008-9 Workforce Profile excludes 6 foreign nationals.

There have been 95 terminations of service of indefinite staff members since 2003-4, which resulted in 

opportunities to address the workforce profile.  It is clear from the 2003-4 statistics that Iziko needed to increase 

the number of African males and females, Indian males and females, as well as Coloured females in its workforce.  

The 2008-9 statistics show that Iziko achieved these goals as all these groups show an increase in number.  

As 29% of staff members were Coloured males, this number needed to be reduced in order to reflect the Western 

Cape demographics.  The number of White males and females also needed to be reduced.  Again, Iziko has achieved 

these goals as all three groups show a decrease in number. Since 2003-4 Iziko has also appointed an Assistant 

Curator in the Art Collections Department who is deaf.

3.6 Foreign Workers
The reporting structure for Employment Equity has changed since 2003-4 as foreign workers, including black 

staff members who are foreign citizens, are reflected separately.  Iziko has six foreign staff members – four males, 

all four being black, and two white females – who are appointed indefinitely or on a longer-term contract.  

3.7 Leave Utilisation for the Period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009
3.7.1	Annual	Leave
Staff members were given until December 2008 to take the capped leave that they had accumulated prior to 

amalgamation.  As from 31 March 2009 no capped leave is included in the leave liability. It is only the annual leave 

liability that is reflected in the provisions. 

3.7.2	Sick	Leave
TABLE 8. SUMMARY OF SICK LEAVE 1 ARIL 2008 TO 31 MARCH 2009

Note: An additional 13 staff members worked on short contracts and did not qualify for sick leave.

PERIOD

MALE FEMALE

TOTALAFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE

2003-4 17 65 0 33 18 46 0 48 227

7% 29% 0% 15% 8% 20% 0% 21% 100%

2008-9 28 51 1 20 42 60 1 36 239

12% 21% 0.4% 8% 18% 25% 0.4% 15% 100%

Difference 11 -14 1 -13 24 14 1 -12 12

STATUS

NUMBER OF 

STAFF MEMBERS

TOTAL DAYS 

TAKEN PER YEAR

AVERAGE DAYS 

DUE PER PERSON 

PER YEAR

AVERAGE DAYS 

TAKEN PER 

PERSON PER YEAR

COST OF SICK 

LEAVE TAKEN THIS 

YEAR

Indefinite 219 1,698 10.62 7.72 R718,866

Contract 78 138 3.6 1.8 R28,487

Totals 297 1,836 8.82 6.18 R747,353



The number of staff members includes staff members whose services were terminated during the reporting year. 

The average number of sick leave days taken in the previous reporting period was 6.22, and 6.18 in this reporting 

period. The average days remained similar despite two staff members having been diagnosed with serious 

illnesses resulting in them being on sick leave for several months.

3.7.3	Special	Leave
During the reporting period leave was granted for maternity, paternity, family responsibility, compassionate, 

religious and study purposes.

3.8 HIV/Aids and Health Promotion Programmes 
On World Aids Day staff members were again invited to attend an HIV/Aids workshop and to be tested for 

HIV/Aids, including pre- and post-test counselling.  

A march with staff members walking behind the Iziko Mobile Museum bus was organised to create awareness of 

HIV/Aids.  The march started from the Castle of Good Hope where the workshop was presented and the testing 

took place, to the SAM where staff enjoyed refreshments in the Company’s Gardens. The theme for this event was 

“Emancipate yourself from… Stigma and Prejudice”.

Staff members were also invited to an information session on diabetes where they were tested for diabetes and 

cholesterol and had their blood pressure taken.  Several staff members were alerted to health problems during 

this session.

3.9 Labour Relations
TABLE 9. DISCIPLINARY ACTION TAKEN FROM 1 APRIL 2008 TO 31 MARCH 2009

Dismissals

One staff member who was dismissed referred a dispute to the CCMA, but attended only the conciliation hearing 

and not the arbitration hearing. Another staff member resigned and referred a dispute to the CCMA, claiming 

constructive dismissal. The Commissioner found in favour of Iziko and ordered the ex-employee to pay some of 

Iziko’s costs. There were no CCMA awards against Iziko in the reporting period.

3.10 Skills Development
Learning and Development

In this reporting period Iziko focused on training that would reduce the risk to Iziko, namely, security training for 

Museum Attendants, Occupational Health and Safety training and First Aid training. At the end of the reporting 

period, a special ceremony was held to hand over certificates to staff members who successfully completed 

training programmes.

MALE FEMALE

OUTCOMEAFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE

0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 Dismissal

0 1 0 0 1 2 0 0
Final Written 

Warning

0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 Written Warning
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TABLE 10. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OCCUPATIONAL CATEGORY WHO RECEIVED 

TRAINING DURING THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2008 TO 31 MARCH 2009

Training Opportunities

Table 10 reflects the number of staff members who received training. In some instances staff members attended 

more than one training course in a reporting period, the numbers being reflected in Table 11.

TABLE 11. TOTAL NUMBER OF TRAINING OPPORTUNITIES PROVIDED OVER THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2008 

TO 31 MARCH 2009

3.11 Injury on Duty
In the reporting period three incidents were reported, none of which resulted in serious injuries.

3.12 Utilisation of Consultants
Iziko has been successful in fundraising millions of rands for projects, but there is not always the capacity to 

deliver due to staff members already having a substantial workload.  In funding proposals, provision was therefore 

made to appoint consultants. 

Also, where there is a lack of specialised skills, a consultant would be appointed, as is the case with painting 

conservation.

During the reporting period consultants were commissioned to conduct a Climate and Culture study. 

OCCUPATIONAL CATEGORIES

MALE FEMALE

WHITE 

MALE

FOREIGN 

NATIONALS

TOTALA C I A C I W W MALE FEMALE

Legislators, senior officials and 
managers

0 1 0 1 1 0 5 1 0 0 9

Professionals 0 2 0 0 2 0 6 9 1 1 21

Technicians and associate 
professionals

5 14 1 6 11 1 16 5 1 1 61

Clerks 0 2 0 5 9 0 1 0 0 0 17

Service and sales workers 10 15 0 12 19 0 2 1 1 0 60

Skilled agricultural and fishery workers 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Craft and related trades workers 2 8 0 3 1 0 0 1 2 0 17

Plant and machine operators and 
assemblers

0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Elementary occupations 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

TOTAL PERMANENT 17 46 1 27 44 1 31 17 5 2 191

Non–permanent employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GRAND TOTAL 17 46 1 27 44 1 31 17 5 2 191

MALE FEMALE

TOTALA C I W A C I W

55 110 1 27 93 144 3 47 490



4. Appendices

Natural History Collections’ Dr Roger Smith kisses a complete skull of Dicynodon, a 250-million-year-old mammal-like reptile, 
in the Ruhuhu valley of southern Tanzania, June 2008.
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4.1 Partnerships and Sponsorships
4.1.1	 Office	of	the	CEO	

Close cooperation at governance level between SAMA and ICOM-SA • 

UCT/Iziko Cooperative Agreement • 

Partnership agreement with Freedom Park• 

Partnership with Volkenkunde Museum Leiden, MOU signed March 2009• 

The CEO serves on: • 

 ICOM-SA Executive Board (Chair) 

 ICOM’s Ethics Standing Committee, Paris

 Editorial Board of International Journal of Intangible Heritage

 Castle Control Board 

 Groot Constantia Trust, Board of Directors

 Speaker of Parliament’s Advisory Board & Spatial Utilisation of   

 Parliament Working Group

 Genadendal Mission Museum  Board of Trustees

 West Coast Fossil Park Trust

 Hans Manneby Museums Dev. Fund, Stockholm

 DAC/UWC/Iziko Afrikaans Taal Project Steering Committee (Chair)  

4.1.2	Social	History	Collections
Agreement with the Apartheid Museum, regarding sharing exhibitions on • 

South African struggle history themes.

Timbuktu exhibition project – undertaken in partnership with DAC and the • 

Ahmed Baba Institution in Timbuktu, Mali.

South African Rock Art Digital Archive, University of the Witwatersrand – Iziko • 

participated in the project to digitise images of rock art.

De Beers funded phase 2 of the Rock Art exhibition at the SAM.• 

Marsh family supported the digitisation of the collection donated by John H Marsh. • 

Partnership with the George Washington University on slave wrecks was  • 

initiated.

4.1.3	Art	Collections
National Lottery Board: Ernest Cole collection was acquired through • 

funding from the NLB.

Partnership with Standard Bank Gallery for the Standard Bank Young • 

Artist of the Year exhibition.

Partnership with the family of Cecil Skotnes to host the exhibition • Cecil 

Skotnes: A Private View.

Support of the Portuguese Consulate-General, the Instituto Camões in • 

Portugal, the Swiss Architecture Museum in Basel, BASA, Arup, Cape 

and Gauteng Institutes for Architecture and many others for the Pancho 

Guedes exhibition.

Support of the British Consul, Grand West Cultural Heritage Trust, Kuehne • 

and Nagel, London, Friends of the South African National Gallery and Scan 

Shop for the Albert Adams retrospective exhibition and publication.



Partnership with the Friends of the South African • 

National Gallery in curating and hosting the 

exhibition Forty Years of Friendship on the occasion 

of the association’s 40th birthday.

Partnership with the Goethe Institute in Berlin • 

and with the SMB Ethnologisches Museum in 

Berlin regarding preparation for the Tropics 

exhibition.

4.1.4	Natural	History	Collections
Partnership with Zoologisches Forschungsmuseum • 

Alexander Koenig in Bonn to bring an exhibition to 

the SAM.

Partnership with NHU Africa to exhibit the finalists • 

of the 2008 Wildlife Photographer of the Year, at the 

SAM.

4.1.5	Education	and	Public	Programmes
Partnership with SA History Online and UCT • 

School of Education to commemorate the 350th 

anniversary of the establishment of the first 

formal school in South Africa. 

Iziko participated in the international ‘Rivers of • 

the World’ education project coordinated by the 

British Council. The project ran simultaneously in 

the UK, China, Brazil, India, Egypt, and Mexico. 

Collaboration  with DAC, the National Youth • 

Commission and Artscape regarding the Youth 

Month Programme.

Collaboration with the British Council in the • 

Summer School Climate Change symposium. 

Collaboration with the South African Astronomical • 

Observatory to mark the International Year of 

Astronomy and 400 years since the invention of 

the first telescope.   

Partnership with City of Cape Town for the Youth • 

Festival.

4.2 Iziko Projects Supported by   
 Department of Public Works
• Iziko Social History Centre on Church Square – 

The Social History Collections Department (SHCD) 

was instrumental in the day-to-day management 

of this project; end March 2009 was the projected 

date for completion, but this date was put forward 

by the contractors to July 2009. Investigations 

revealed the need for strengthening of several 

floors, leading to delays. Signage on front façade 

of building to be approved by City and Heritage 

Authorities.

• Hangar accommodation at Wingfield – The 

SHCD was faced with the crisis of not having a 

permanent storage facility for its larger objects. 

DPW has assisted in finding an alternative hangar 

at Wingfield as a permanent solution. 

• Iziko Bertram House – Water damage caused 

by heavy rainfall led to the temporary closure of 

Bertram House. General renovation of this historic 

building was due for completion in April 2009. 

Nandipha Mntambo. Europa (2008). Social History Collections’ Valerie Mienies, Dr Sarah Wurz and  Nontsikelelo ‘Lolo’ Veleko’s Wonderland exhibition opening,  Iziko Social History Centre, Church Square, Cape Town.
 Wilhelmina Seconna with Middle Stone Age tools. Iziko South African National Gallery.
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• CCTV cameras – The installation of CCTV cameras 

at the five major museums progressed satisfactorily; 

construction of a new security control room at the 

SAM commenced, and trunking for CCTV camera 

positions was largely completed at the SAM, Slave 

Lodge and SANG. The bulk of CCTV cameras have 

been installed at these sites, and local monitoring 

is taking place. The last of the buildings to be 

completed is the William Fehr Collection at the 

Castle, where good progress was made.

• Access for people with disabilities – A contractor 

was appointed and work is well advanced at the Slave 

Lodge, Rust en Vreugd, Koopmans-De Wet, and Bo-

Kaap museums, and the SANG Annexe building. 

• Koopmans-De Wet House – Conservation 

recommendations were submitted to DPW on the 

planned repair of the floor tiles.

• Repair and renovation project at SAM neared 

completion.  Motivations for renovation of SANG 

and SAM forecourt were submitted to DPW and 

DAC; as well as motivation for installation of air-

conditioning units in the new Annexe library. 

• Foyer of Iziko SA Museum – Mashabane Rose 

Associates were appointed to upgrade the foyer of 

SAM and executive offices. DPW obtained funding 

for alterations to existing infrastructure in the 

foyer area to accommodate a new suspended 

ceiling. Renovation of SAM foyer got underway, 

exposing original historic floors which will be 

restored.

4.3 Exhibitions
4.3.1	Social	History	Collections
Iziko Slave Lodge

• Our Triumphs and Our Tears, an exhibition of 20th 

century women’s struggle in South Africa, and 

Malibongwe: Let us praise the women, an exhibition of 

portraits  of women by Gisèle Wulfsohn at the Slave 

Lodge, May to October 2008.

• Biko: The quest for a true humanity opened to the public 

on 25 November 2008.

• A performance project at the Slave Lodge marked 

the bicentenary of the first slave uprising in 

South Africa (1808). Developed by The Rooster 

Collective, the drama was performed and filmed 

during October 2008.

• What We See: Voice, Image and Versioning opened at the 

Slave Lodge on 26 February 2009.

Iziko at the Castle of Good Hope

Timbuktu manuscripts – • Timbuktu: Script & Scholarship 

was opened on 7 August with great ceremony by 

President Thabo Mbeki. The exhibition travelled to 

five other museums before the manuscripts were 

returned to Mali in December 2008.

The Month of Photography exhibition (• Then and 

Now) opened on 2 October at the Good Hope 

Gallery at the Castle. 

Breathing Spaces: Environmental portraits of Durban’s • 

Industrial South opened on 15 January and closed on  

1 March 2009 in the Good Hope Gallery.

Nandipha Mntambo. Europa (2008). Social History Collections’ Valerie Mienies, Dr Sarah Wurz and  Nontsikelelo ‘Lolo’ Veleko’s Wonderland exhibition opening,  Iziko Social History Centre, Church Square, Cape Town.
 Wilhelmina Seconna with Middle Stone Age tools. Iziko South African National Gallery.



Iziko SA Museum

Unconquerable Spirit: George Stow and the rock art of the • 

San opened at the SAM on 8 November 2008.

University Museum of Stellenbosch

Living Antiquities – A display of mainly Greek vessels from 

Iziko Social History Collections.

4.3.2	 Art	Collections
Iziko South African National Gallery

D• ungamanzi/Stirring Waters: Tsonga and Shangaan art 

from southern Africa.

Cecil Skotnes: A Private View,•  April 2008.

Reality Check • – contemporary South African 

photography, April 2008.

Ernest Cole: Chronicler in the House of Bondage, • April 

2008. 

Messina/Musina•  – Standard Bank Young Artist for 

Visual Art 2007: Pieter Hugo, April 2008. 

Pancho Guedes: An Alternative Modernist•  and work after 

25 April 1974, May to August 2008.

Albert Adams: Journey on a Tightrope• , July to October 

2008.

Women for Children, • opened on 9 August, Women’s Day.

Voices of the Ancestors: Musical instruments from the Iziko • 

Collections, opened on Heritage Day.

Stephen Shore: Colouring American Photography, • opened 

on Heritage Day.

Scratches on the Face• , opened October 2008. 

Past/Present: Andrew Verster• , opened November 2008. 

Intimate Distance,•  opened November 2008.  

Patriarch,•  opened November 2008.  

Abe Bailey Collection, opened November 2008.  • 

William Kentridge’s video projection,•  I am not me, 

the horse is not mine, opened December 2008.

Wonderland:•  Nontsikelelo Veleko, Standard Bank 

Young Artist of the Year 2008, March 2009.

Forty Years of Friendship•  marked the 40th anniversary 

of the Friends of the South African National 

Gallery.

The Old Town House

Secretly I will love you more • by Andrew Putter. 

Dutch Treat,•  rehanging of the permanent 

collection. 

4.3.3	 Natural	History	Collections
Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2008•  opened on  

11 December 2008 at the SAM.

4.4 Loans
4.4.1	Social	History	Collections

University of Stellenbosch – 47 items from the • 

Antiquities collections were loaned for a period of 

one year.

Kagiso Exhibitions – SA pavilion of World Expo in • 

Zaragoza Spain – 7 items were loaned (precolonial 

and ethnographic material).

Living Landscape project – 15 items were loaned • 

for exhibition at Clanwilliam.

The Rooster Collective performance, commemoration of the  Reality Check, Iziko South African National Gallery.  Kendal Warren. Ceramic Plate. Women for Children exhibition, 
1808 slave revolt, Iziko Slave Lodge.                      Iziko South African National Gallery.
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Forty manuscripts from the Ahmed Baba Library • 

in Timbuktu were borrowed for exhibition in South 

Africa and returned.

Cape silver beaker removed by slaves during the • 

1808 uprising was borrowed for exhibition.

4.4.2	 Art	Collections
Works from the permanent collection were • 

out on loan to 16 institutions nationally and 

internationally.

4.4.3	 Natural	History	Collections
A total of 65 loans were dispatched.• 

4.5 Acquisitions
4.5.1	Social	History	Collections
Archaeological material 

Saldanha Bay: 22 boxes Cultural Resource • 

Management (CRM) Contracts Office, UCT.

Dwarskersbos: 2 boxes CRM Contracts Office, UCT.• 

60 boxes of  precolonial archaeological material • 

from Ysterfontein.

Noetzie material: 18 boxes. CRM agreement.• 

Donations

Two tub chairs with Boer War association, Cape, Sri • 

Lanka or India, Mr AD McKechnie.

Welwitschia mirabilis flower creation in lace • 

donated by the Cape Lace Guild Chairperson, Carole 

Muncaster. 

Carved wooden mask, about 500 BC, Egypt, Jocelynne • 

Chiat, New York.

Sculpture by Jaco Sieberhagen, c. 2005-8, • Cape 

Wedding, 5-12-1689, laser cut steel, mild steel and 

paint. Presented by the artist. 

Carved wooden staff with baboon at the upper end; • 

from KwaZulu-Natal, 19th century, artist: probably 

the ‘Baboon Master’.  Purchased for and presented to 

Iziko by the Rowland and Leta Hill Trust, R200 000.

Ship’s menus on the Durban Castle and Cape Town • 

Castle; also photographs and seamen’s documents. 

Donor: Reverend Michael Selwood.

Ellerman Lines silver-plated bowl with lid and • 

Safmarine bottle opener. Donor: Betty Mullineaux per 

Joy Wright.

Woman’s garment, northern Zimbabwe, near Lake • 

Kariba, BaTonga-speakers. Collected in 1970. Donor: 

Mr Marinus (Rene) Dooms.

Memory candles, commemorative place mat and • 

coasters, and tray made by Capetonian Patriq 

Tariq Mellet, c. 2000-8, produced these items to 

commemorate slavery. Donor: Mr PT Mellet.

Spear, South Sotho, South Africa, end 19th/ beginning • 

20th century. Donor:  Mr Eric Judd.  

The Rowland and Leta Hill Trust sponsored the • 

purchase of a Rorke’s Drift vessel from the Decorative 

and Fine Arts auction of Stephan Welz & Co/Sotheby’s 

held in Cape Town on 24 and 25 February 2009: a 

spherical hand-built coil pot or vessel by Dina Molefe, 

Rorke’s Drift, Kwazulu-Natal, 1976. Price: R8 526.

The Rooster Collective performance, commemoration of the  Reality Check, Iziko South African National Gallery.  Kendal Warren. Ceramic Plate. Women for Children exhibition, 
1808 slave revolt, Iziko Slave Lodge.                      Iziko South African National Gallery.



Purchases

A collection of 15 pieces of beadwork and clothing • 

from Eastern Cape, together with mats, stick, whip, 

stone trough and two stone mortars.  

A selection of contemporary trade commodities that • 

are currently in demand by rural communities in the 

Eastern Cape. R4 024.75.

Beadwork pin depicting Aids ribbon (red and white), • 

South Africa, 21st century. R15.30. 

Madiba cloth dolls, purchased from Community • 

Creations, a skills development and craft project. 

R405.

Garments from Timbuktu. Male outfits: 2 demi outfits • 

and 2 forkiya outfits, Timbuktu, Mali, 21st century.  

R3 000.

Three pots by contemporary South African, KwaZulu-• 

Natal based ceramic artist Clive Sithole: Ukhamba  

R5 000; Uphiso R7 000 and Khambaphiso R9 000.

A group of five contemporary ceramics: a large • 

stoneware two-handled jar and cover by Tim Morris 

(1941-1990), South Africa (R17 052) and a porcelain 

round dish and footed bowl by Esias Bosch (1923-), 

South Africa (R5 269); a Thabo Bosigo vase, Lesotho, 

1970s and a bottle vase made by Kolonyama pottery, 

Lesotho, 1970s (R3 161). The Rowland and Leta Hill 

Trust sponsored the Social History Collections 

Department with R15 000 to cover the main cost of 

the Tim Morris jar and cover.

Jaco Sieberhagen, metal ‘shadow’ sculpture, • Royal 

Invisible, on the theme of slavery. Purchased from the 

artist. R6 000. 

Ceramics purchased at 2008 Regional Ceramic • 

Exhibition: Sunspots vase by Laura du Toit R4 500; 

bowl by John Wilhelm R800; vessel by Hennie Meyer 

R1 250; vessel by Hennie Meyer R1 250; vessel by 

Hennie Meyer R1 800; vessel by Ian Garrett R800; 

vase by Wiebke von Bismarck R1 500; vase by Wiebke 

von Bismarck R1 500. Bambanani bowl by Zizamele 

Ceramics, R860. Total cost: R14 260.    

Bowls (2), copper wire, KwaZulu-Natal, Northern • 

Nguni/Zulu-speakers, decorative; made for sale by 

Mdukatshani crafters, Tugela River basin, 2008. 

Prices: R1 535 and R2 040. 

Concertina•  from KwaZulu-Natal; repaired with 

tape; an introduced instrument now firmly part of 

the repertoire of Zulu music. R1 250.

Ardmore Ceramics from South Gallery

Fish tray sculptured by Victor Shabalala and painted • 

by Octavia Buthelezi, 2008. 14x22x12cm. R5 120.

Umama Ubelethe Umntwana•  – Woman carrying baby, 

sculpted by Nhlanhla Nsundwane and painted by 

Micky Chonco, 2008. R10 000.

Ceramics by Noria and Joyce Mabasa from Bell-

Roberts Art Gallery

Noria Mabasa sculptural vessel no 4. Height 43cm. • 

R7 500. 

Noria Mabasa sculptural vessel no 12. Height • 

48cm. R7 500. 

Temnorrhynchus coronatus, pinned for drying The Tropics: Views from the Middle of the Globe exhibition. Biko: The Quest for a True Humanity exhibition, Iziko Slave Lodge.  Ed Young. Still from It’s not easy (2004).
by an Iziko Summer School participant.
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Joyce Mabasa vessel no 26. Height 72cm. R4 500. • 

Ceramics by Kendal Warren and Ellalou O’Meara 

from Africa Nova

Two plates with stitching detail and decorated • 

with ribbon by Kendal Warren. Warren’s work 

has been selected as one of the most beautiful 

objects in South Africa (MBOISA) at the 2009 

Design Indaba. R2 280. 

Tile panel by Ellalou O’Meara decorated with a view • 

of the Cape of Good Hope within a cartouche. R915.

Liebermann Pottery, purchased at the pottery in 

Johannesburg 

A selection of tableware items and tiles dating from • 

the 1950s to 1980s, i.e. a set of 12 Zodiac/star sign 

tiles; a number tile which indicates the number of 

a house; cups and saucers; a casserole dish; two 

fruit bowls; a fruit juice jug; two ‘Spanish’ bowls; 

part tea service comprising teapot, sugar bowl, 

milk jug and matching cup and saucer; teapots; 

dinner plates; side plate; soufflé dish; small vase by 

Mary Liebermann; soup tureen; a ‘Sammy’ bowl; a 

Kolonyama pepper shaker. R5 814.

Philately subscriptions

No. 1072 to 1085.14 RSA commemorative envelopes.• 

Numismatics

Currency Proof Coin Set, 2008. R290 • 

Peace Park Series Proof Set (/Ai-/Ais Richtersveld • 

Transfrontier Park), 2008. R1 880.

Nelson Mandela Commemorative R5 Coin Set, • 

2008. R390.

4.5.2	 Art	Collections	
Donations

From Nicolaas Maritz:

Nicolaas Maritz, • Penis Valentine II (2007), enamel 

on glass (reversed glass painting).

Nicolaas Maritz, • Penis Valentine V (2007), enamel 

on glass (reversed glass painting).

Anonymous donor:

Ruth Prowse, • Baby (undated), oil on board.

From Deon Viljoen:

Lucas Seage, • Untitled (c. 1981), mixed media.

From Herman Kotzè:

Colbert Mashile, • Sehlabelo (2007), oil on canvas 

(value R13 300).

Colbert Mashile, • Motho-Le-Mmagwe (2007), oil on 

canvas (value R13 000).

Clare Menck,•  Ingrid Winterbach (2008), oil on 

canvas (value R12 000).

Clare Menck, • Victor Honey (2008), oil on canvas 

(value R12 000), all from IArt. 

From Amanda Younge Hayes:

Gavin Younge, • Façade (c. 1973/74), silkscreen on 

cotton, with sewn objects.

From the former Lady Michaelis Orthopaedic Hospital, Plumstead:

Ruth Prowse, • Fish Hoek, oil on canvas.

Temnorrhynchus coronatus, pinned for drying The Tropics: Views from the Middle of the Globe exhibition. Biko: The Quest for a True Humanity exhibition, Iziko Slave Lodge.  Ed Young. Still from It’s not easy (2004).
by an Iziko Summer School participant.



Florence Zerffi, • Mosque and houses, oil on canvas.

Edward Roworth, • White wall on Signal Hill, oil on canvas.

Edward Roworth, • St Stephen’s Church, Cape Town, oil on 

canvas.

From Betsy Younkins, Virginia, USA:

Azaria Mbatha, • Untitled, linocut.

John Muafangejo,•  Shepherd, linocut.

John Muafangejo,•  Adam and Eva, linocut.

John Muafangejo, • Kuanyama Chief, linocut (two copies).

John Muafangejo, • Muafangejo kraal, linocut.

John Muafangejo, • A strong man, linocut.

Eric Mbatha, • Group II, etching, aquatint.

Eric Mbatha, • Newcomer, etching.

Eric Mbatha, • Jazz profits, drypoint.

Cyprian Shilakoe, • The widow, etching, aquatint.

Cyprian Shilakoe, • Goodbye child, woodcut.

Cyprian Shilakoe, • Figures in the forest, woodcut.

Dan Rakgoathe, • Untitled, linocut.

Ephraim Ziqubu, • Jesus clearing moneylenders from the 

Temple, linocut.

Ephraim Ziqubu,•  Untitled, linocut.

Phillipus Manthala, • Untitled, linocut.

Phillipus Manthala, • Untitled, linocut.

Phillipus Manthala, • Untitled, linocut.

Wopko Jensma, • Untitled, woodcut.

Work purchased by the Friends of SANG

Brendhan Dickerson, • Cannon Fodder (2006), carved 

Jakaranda wood and wrought stainless steel, R43 200, 

from the artist.

Zanele Muholi, • Sokka Plight at the Chicago Gay Games 

(2006), Lambda print, edition of 8, R6 156.

Jane Makhubele, • Nceka – Mandela’s 85th birthday 

celebration outfit in 2003 (c. 2006), textile, brass safety 

pins, glass beads, thread, R4 900.

Diane Victor, • Disasters of Peace, portfolio of 30 etchings 

(2001-2008), R51 300.

Trevor Coleman, • Interchange, acrylic on canvas.

Trevor Coleman, • Untitled, acrylic on canvas, R45 000 

for the two.

Dave Southwood, • Cutting near the Hex River Valley, 

lightjet print, R8 500, from the artist.

Antonia Steyn, • Eugene Terreblanche, lightjet print,  

R4 000.

Dumile Feni, • Hand, ink on paper, R18 000.

Work purchased from Iziko budget

Albert Munyai, • Mopane Worms (1998), kiaat, R3 500.

Sarah Munyai,•  Lona Pot (2008), clay and graphite, 

R450.

Phillip Rikhotso, • Walking Stick (with crocodile) (c. 2005), 

painted wood, R3 000.

Elza Botha, • Afrikaners is plesierig I (2008), mixed media, 

R9 000.

Elza Botha, • Afrikaners is plesierig II (2008), woodcut,  

R5 000.

Elza Botha, • Afrikaners is plesierig III (Afrikaners hou van 

partytjies) (2008), woodcut, R5 000, all from the 

artist.

Brett Murray, • Eyesight to the Blind (2008), 

Carved wooden window embellished with metal decorations,  Georgina Gratrix. Les Demoiselles D’Avignon (2008).  Jane Makhubele, Nceka – Shirt used by Madiba to celebrate his  William Kentridge. Projection from I am not me, the horse is not mine
 Timbuktu. Oil on canvas. 86th birthday (c. 2006). Textile, glass beads, thread. (2008). Iziko South African National Gallery.
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silkscreen, ed 1/25, R3 847.50.

Brett Murray, • The Old Identity Chestnut (2008), 

engraved plastic and wood, ed. 1/5, R5 130.

Hentie van der Merwe, • Pegasus (2003), red 

watercolour paint on paper, R35 000, from the 

artist.

Nandipha Mntambo, • Europa (2008), archival ink 

on cotton rag paper, ed of 5 + 2AP, photographer 

Tony Meintjes, R12 312.

Graham Goddard, photographs from the series • The 

Matinee Session, Westridge City Mitchell’s Plain (1991-

1994), 8 silver prints, ed 1/7 + 1AP, R4 000 each, 

total R32 000, from the artist.

Carol-Anne Gainer, • Pissing (2004), DVD, duration  

3 min, ed of 10, R405.

Charles Maggs, • Walking Man (2008), video, duration  

4 min 48 sec, ed of 10. Contains footage from 

James Bond films, starring Roger Moore; music by 

O. Lamm-bed of the Cylinder in Three Concentric 

Zones (2004), remixed by Sutekh, R3 015.

Svea Josephy, • Barcelona, Spain (pool) (2007), light 

jet print, R9 700 (framed), from the artist.

Svea Josephy, • Barcelona, Cape Town (near N2) (2007), 

light jet print, R9 700, from the artist.

Jean Brundrit, • Making History (Voortrekkernooientjies) 

Voortrekkernooientjies ondersteun mekaar gedurende 

moeilike omstandighede (2003), selenium-toned 

silver print, ed of 3 + AP + HC, R4 725.

Mustafa Maluka,•  Seen it All (2002), acrylic and oil on 

canvas, R46 170.

Laurence Lemaoana, • Hierarchy of Mockery: A Man 

Amongst Men (2007), digital print on 100% cotton 

rag paper, edition of 10 + AP, R4 104. 

Ed Young, • It’s not easy (2004), DVD, duration 3 min 

41 sec, edition of 5, R30 000, from the artist.

Jane Makhubele, • Nceka – Shirt used by Madiba to 

celebrate his 86th birthday, 19 July 2004 in the Eastern 

Cape (c. 2006), textile, glass beads, thread, R2 900.

Unknown artist, • Ibayi leGqirha (a Sangoma’s cloak) 

(c. 1960), cotton fabric, thread, braid, washing 

blue, antelope skin, R1 500.

Unknown artist, • Umbhaco weGqhira (a Sangoma’s skirt) 

(c. 1960), cotton fabric, thread, antelope skin, R1 500.

Unknown artist, • Incebetha (a Sangoma’s breast 

cover) (c. 1960), cotton fabric, thread, braid, 

antelope skin, glass beads and metal safety pin, 

R1 000.

Virginia MacKenny, • Songs of Innocence and Experience 

(Dog Days), oil on canvas, R42 500.

Georgina Gratrix, • Les Demoiselles D’Avignon, oil on 

canvas, R14 500.

From the DAC Repatriation Budget

Albert Adams, • Portrait of an Afghan student, oil 

on canvas, R78 681.23, from Edward Glennon, 

London.

Estate of the late Tosca Reynolds

Joseph Manana, (2004), gouache on paper, R11 000.• 

Carved wooden window embellished with metal decorations,  Georgina Gratrix. Les Demoiselles D’Avignon (2008).  Jane Makhubele, Nceka – Shirt used by Madiba to celebrate his  William Kentridge. Projection from I am not me, the horse is not mine
 Timbuktu. Oil on canvas. 86th birthday (c. 2006). Textile, glass beads, thread. (2008). Iziko South African National Gallery.



4.6 Publications
Executive

Davison, P. 2008.  Review article. ‘Museum Frictions: 

Public Cultures/Global Transformations.’ 

Eds. Ivan Karp, Corinne Kratz et al. Duke 

University Press (2006), and ‘Transforming 

Museums: Mounting Queen Victoria in a 

Democratic South Africa.’ Steven Dubin. New 

York: Palgrave MacMillan (2006). South African 

Historical Journal Vol 60, 1: 152-155.

Davison, P. 2009. Review of ‘The makers and making 

of Indigenous Australian museum collections’. 

Eds. Nicolas Peterson, Lindy Allen and Louise 

Hamby. Melbourne University Press (2008). 

In Recollections. Journal of the National Museum 

of Australia Vol 4 no.1.  

Art Collections

Martin, M. and Dolby, J. (eds). 2008. Retrospective 

catalogue. Albert Adams: Journey on a Tightrope, 

Iziko South African National Gallery, Cape Town.

Proud, H. et al, 2008 (second edition). Scratches on the 

Face. Antiquity and contemporaneity in South African 

works of art from Iziko Museums of Cape Town. Iziko 

Museums of Cape Town, Cape Town.

Proud, H. 2009. Robert Hodgins (exhibition review), Art 

South Africa vol. 7, issue 3, summer 2009, 88.

Tietze, A. 2008. The Abe Bailey Collection in the South 

African National Gallery, Abe Bailey Trust. Iziko 

Museums of Cape Town, Cape Town.

Social History Collections

Clayton, F. 2009. Bones of Conflict. In What we see: 

Reconsidering an Anthropometric Collection from 

Southern Africa: Images, Voices and Versioning. Basler 

Afrika Bibliographien: Switzerland, 205-217.

Wurz, S. 2008. Modern behaviour at Klasies River. South 

African Archaeological Society, Goodwin Series 10:  

150-156. 

Timbuktu Script & Scholarship: A Catalogue of Selected 

Manuscripts from the Exhibition. 2008. Prepared by 

the Tombouctou Manuscripts Project and Iziko 

Social History Collections. Iziko Museums of Cape 

Town, Cape Town.

The Manuscripts with notes by Shahid Mathee, Shamil 

Jeppie, Lindsay Hooper, Gerald Klinghardt and 

Lalou Meltzer. In Timbuktu Script & Scholarship: A 

Catalogue of Selected Manuscripts from the Exhibition. 

2008. Prepared by the Tombouctou Manuscripts 

Project and Iziko Social History Collections. Iziko 

Museums of Cape Town, Cape Town 45-136.

Natural History Collections

Avery, G., Halkett, D., Steele, T., Orton, J., Tusenius, M., 

Klein, R. 2008. The Ysterfontein 1 Middle Stone 

Age Rockshelter and the Evolution of Coastal 

Foraging. South African Archaeological Society 

Goodwin Series 10: 66-89.

Compagno, LJV., Last, PR. 2008. A new species of 

wedgefish, Rhynchobatus palpebratus (Rajiformes, 

Rhynchobatoidei, Rhynchobatidae), from the Indo-

Brendhan Dickerson. Cannon Fodder (2006). Graham Goddard. Photographs from the series The Matinee Session,   Svea Josephy. Barcelona, Cape Town (near N2) (2007).  Albert Adams, Portrait of an Afghan student (1958).  
 Westridge City Mitchell’s Plain (1991–1994). Light jet print. Oil on canvas. 



A P P E N D I C E S     |  PAGE 93

West Pacific. CSIRO Research Paper 22: 227-240.

Compagno, LJV., White, WT., Last, PR. 2008. Glyphis garricki, 

a new species of river shark (Chondrichthyes; 

Carcharhiniformes; Carcharhinidae) from 

northern Australia and Papua New Guinea, with 

a redescription of Glyphis glyphis (Müller & Henle, 

1839). CSIRO Research Paper 22: 203-225.

Dulvy, NK., Baum, JK., Clarke, S., Compagno, LJV., 

Cortés, E., Domingo, A., Fordham, S., Fowler, S., 

Francis, MP., Gibson, C., Martínez, J., Musick, JA., 

Soldo, A., Stevens, JD., Valenti, S. 2008. You can 

swim but you can’t hide: the global status and 

conservation of oceanic pelagic sharks. Aquatic 

Conservation 18: 459-482. 

Edge, DA., Robertson, HG., Van Hamburg, H.  2008. Ant 

assemblages at three potential breeding sites 

for the Brenton blue butterfly, Orachrysops niobe 

(Trimen). African Entomology 16(2): 253–262.

Johnson, NF., Masner, L., Musetti, L., Van Noort, S., 

Rajmohana, K., Darling, DC., Guidotti, A., Polaszek, 

A. 2008. Revision of world species of the genus 

Heptascelio Kieffer (Hymenoptera: Platygastroidea, 

Platygastridae). Zootaxa 1776: 1-51. 

Jousselin, E., Van Noort, S., Berry, V., Rasplus, JY., 

Rønsted, N., Erasmus, JC., Greeff, JM. 2008. 

One fig to bind them all: host conservatism in a 

fig wasp community unravelled by cospeciation 

analyses among pollinating and non pollinating 

fig wasps. Evolution 62: 1777–1797.

Kennedy, WJ., Klinger, HC. 2008. Cretaceous faunas from 

Zululand and Natal, South Africa. The ammonite 

family Lyelliceratinae (Spath, 1921). African Natural 

History 4: 57-111.

Kennedy, WJ., Klinger, HC. 2008. Hypermorphosis 

in Salaziceras, a Cretaceous ammonite from 

Madagascar. African Natural History 4: 113-116.

Kennedy, WJ., Klinger, HC. 2008. Cretaceous faunas from 

Zululand and Natal, South Africa. The ammonite 

family Forbesiceratidae (Wright, 1952). African 

Natural History 4: 117-130.

Klinger, HC., Kennedy, WJ. 2008. Mkuzeiella andersoni gen. 

et sp. nov. (Cephalopoda, Ammonoidea) from the 

Albian Mzinene Formation of KwaZulu-Natal, 

South Africa. Bulletin de l’Institut Royal des Sciences 

Naturelles de Belgique. Sciences de la Terre 78: 179-191.

Klinger, HC., Malchus, N. 2008. The first record 

of Agerostrea ungulata (Von Schlotheim, 

1813) (Bivalvia: Ostreoidea) from the Upper 

Maastrichtian of KwaZulu, South Africa, with a 

discussion of its distribution in southeast Africa 

and Madagascar. African Natural History 4: 11-16.

Mbanyana, N., Robertson, HG. 2008. Review of the ant 

genus Nesomyrmex (Hymenoptera: Formicidae: 

Myrmicinae) in southern Africa. African Natural 

History 4: 35-55.

McMillan, IK. 2008. Reappraisal of foraminiferal 

assemblages of the Santonian-Campanian 

Mzamba Formation type section, and their 

correlation with the stratigraphic succession of 

the KwaZulu Basin. African Natural History 4: 17-24.

Brendhan Dickerson. Cannon Fodder (2006). Graham Goddard. Photographs from the series The Matinee Session,   Svea Josephy. Barcelona, Cape Town (near N2) (2007).  Albert Adams, Portrait of an Afghan student (1958).  
 Westridge City Mitchell’s Plain (1991–1994). Light jet print. Oil on canvas. 



McMillan, IK. 2008. Aragonitic-walled benthic 

foraminifera (Epistomina) in the Cretacious 

‘mudbelt’ off southern Africa, and postmortem 

cross-shelf transport of tests. African Natural 

History 4: 25-34.

Natanson, LJ., Wintner, SP., Johansson, F., Piercy, A., 

Campbell, P., De Maddalena, A., Gulak, SJB., 

Human, B., Fulgosi, FC., Ebert, DA., Hemida, F., 

Mollen, FH., Vanni, S., Burgess, GH., Compagno, 

LJV., Wedderburn-Maxwell A. 2008. Ontogenetic 

vertebral growth patterns in the basking shark 

Cetorhinus maximus. Marine Ecology Progress Series 

361: 267-278.

Notton, DG., Buffington, ML., Van Noort, S. 2009. The 

status of the type material of Pycnostigmus rostratus 

Cameron (Hymenoptera, Figitidae, Pycnostigminae). 

Journal of Natural History 43: 181-184.

Stynder, DD. 2008. The impact of medium-sized canids 

on a seal bone assemblage from Dunefield 

Midden, west coast, South Africa. South African 

Archaeological Bulletin 63: 159-163.

Stynder, DD. 2009. The diets of ungulates from the 

hominid fossil-bearing site of Elandsfontein, 

Western Cape, South Africa: a mesowear 

perspective. Quaternary Research 71: 62-70.

Stynder, DD. 2009. South African Later Stone Age 

herders and hunter-gatherers were a single 

population. Journal of Archaeological Science  36: 

798-806.

Talamas, EJ., Johnson, NF., Van Noort, S., Masner L., 

Polaszek, A. 2009. Revision of world species 

of the genus Oreiscelio Kieffer (Hymenoptera: 

Platygastroidea, Platygastridae). Zookeys  6: 1-68.

White, WT., Ebert, DA., Compagno, LJV. 2008. Description 

of two new species of gulper sharks, genus 

Centrophorus (Chondrichthyes: Squaliformes: 

Centrophoridae) from Australia. CSIRO Research 

Paper 22: 1-21.

Other Natural History publications

Florence, WK. 2009. Corals, True or False? Sancor 

Newsletter 187: 6-7.

Stynder, DD. 2008. Les Khoï-San: Données historiques 

et origines. In Crubézy, E, Braga, J, & Larrouy, G, 

eds. Anthropobiologie: évolution humaine. Elsevier 

Masson: Cedex, 292.

Van Noort, S. 2008. South African survey reveals further 

Nixonia gems. Skaphion 2(13): 1-3. 

Van Noort, S. 2008. Welcome to Mmamotswa. Skaphion 2(22): 2.

4.7 Education and Public   
 Programmes

Visitor figures: 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Total number of visitors to Iziko Museums: 

493 559 [compared to 456 079 in 2007/2008]

Education Programmes: 

58 265 [compared to 51 184 in 2007/2008]

Iziko Planetarium: 

67 844 [compared to 66 995 in 2007/2008] 

Timbuktu Script & Scholarship: A Catalogue of  Scratches on the Face exhibition, Iziko South African National Gallery. Ellalou O’Meara drawing design on  David Maitland. Deadlock. Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2008 ©.
Selected Manuscripts from the Exhibition.  Chinese ceramics at Bertram House.
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Public Programmes

Public Programmes were held to commemorate • 

Freedom Day (a public lecture by Dr A Malan) and 

Youth Day (a collaboration programme with DAC).

Slave Lodge educators ran a special Women’s • 

Month programme using the Malibongwe (Women’s 

tears exhibition) as their focal point.

In August, Iziko hosted Dr Wilhelm Verwoerd and • 

Zuleiga Adams to present papers under the topic: 

‘Uncovering History: engaging the past in order to 

live better in the present.’  

Mosaic, puppet and papermaking workshops were • 

run to coincide with the Timbuktu exhibition. 

Heritage Month – performances, Mobile Museum • 

displays, film screenings, poetry, creative writing 

and performance workshops for grades 9 and 10 

from Cape Town High and Chris Hani High School; 

a group of refugees from Bonne Esperance 

was invited to participate. On Heritage Day 

performances were showcased by youth from 

different cultural backgrounds.   

Iziko partnered with UNESCO in running a slavery • 

programme for ASPnet schools to create awareness 

of the International Day for the Remembrance of the 

Slave Trade.

Month of Photography 4•  exhibition in October, at the 

SANG Annexe, showcased the artworks produced 

by seven schools in the Western Cape, featuring 

photography and mobiles. The mobiles were donated 

to Red Cross Children’s Hospital on 20 January 2009.

Holiday programmes (December/January) held in • 

the Annexe included papermaking and animation 

workshops.

Iziko Planetarium show, • Davy Dragon’s Guide to the 

Night Sky, was produced.

Iziko Planetarium school presentation, • Starbike, was 

translated into isiXhosa.

Worksheets were developed for new Iziko • 

Planetarium shows.

An educational game in three languages was • 

developed for the International year of Astronomy 

2009 (IYA 2009).

Public Programmes developed a proposal for a • 

series of pre-2010 Soccer Indabas to be held at 

Iziko in 2009.  

Invited school groups to the Slave Lodge and Bo-• 

Kaap Museum between 20–24, 27 October  for 

the Commemoration of the first Slave Rebellion, 

including a performance by the Rooster Collective.

Involved in the planning committee for Iziko’s • 

commemoration of Aids Day, including Aids 

workshop, testing, poetry, march and picnic.  Guest 

speaker was Desmond Fillis from UNESCO.

‘Ritual of Remembrance’ created for staff and • 

visitors to the Slave Lodge to write a message 

on a memory flag in remembrance of all forms 

of slavery and people infected and affected by 

HIV/Aids. The display of flags remained in the 

Slave Lodge courtyard from 1 December 2008–20 

January 2009. 

Timbuktu Script & Scholarship: A Catalogue of  Scratches on the Face exhibition, Iziko South African National Gallery. Ellalou O’Meara drawing design on  David Maitland. Deadlock. Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2008 ©.
Selected Manuscripts from the Exhibition.  Chinese ceramics at Bertram House.



Special Education Programme for • Voices of the 

Ancestors, exhibition activities and worksheets 

designed. Practical art workshops and drumming 

sessions for GET learners.

Ayesha Price was an invited speaker at the opening • 

of the South African leg of ‘Rivers of the World’, 

international art project with the British Council.

Educators participated in the Cape Town Youth • 

Festival, providing assistance in organising schedules 

and facilitating sessions with school groups.

At the Slave Lodge, a Biko workshop was facilitated • 

by Barbara Johansson on 22 January 2009.

26 January 2009 – a partial solar eclipse.  • 

Planetarium staff set up telescopes and handed 

out viewing glasses to members of the public 

and Iziko staff, allowing safe observation of the 

eclipse. Information brochures were distributed 

and free short planetarium shows explaining the 

phenomena were conducted. 

Astronomy Symposium as part of IYA 2009 held • 

in February 2009.

Iziko Summer School 2009 held in February and • 

March 2009 was opened by Mrs Pumla Madiba. It 

continued to be a significant ‘space of engagement’ 

for our diverse audience. 

4.8 Materiality and Significance  
 Framework for the    
 2008/2009 Financial Year

1.  Definitions and Standards
Audited financial statements: 2006/2007 (AFS)• 

Approved annual budget: 2007/2008 (AAB)• 

Approved strategic plan: 2007/2008 to 2009/2010 • 

(ASP)

Event: An activity that has the elements of income • 

and expenditure

Trading venture: An activity that has the elements • 

of buying and selling of products and/or services

Total income: Total income excluding the income • 

from events and trading ventures

Total expenditure: Total expenditure excluding • 

event and trading venture expenditure

2. Applicable Sections of the  
 PFMA
• Section 50(1)

• Section 55(2)

• Section 54(2)

• Section 66(1)

3. Treasury Regulation 
• 28.1.5

Groenvlei High School learners from the WCED Safer
Schools Project ‘Soccer Star’ puppet workshop, July 2008.

Audience at the Iziko Summer School 2009 Art Next 
Symposium.
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Ritual of Remembrance memory flags, Slave Lodge. Partial solar eclipse, 26 January 2009, Iziko South African 
Museum.

4.1 SECTION 50: FIDUCIARY DUTIES 

OF ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY
VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

(1) Accounting authority must-

(c) on request, disclose to the 
Executive Authority responsible, 
all material facts which in any way 
may influence the decisions or 
actions of the Executive Authority

(a) Any unbudgeted transaction of 
which the amount exceeds 1% of the 
total value of assets per AFS

(b) Any budgeted event where 
income is a legitimate expectation 
where the actual income is less than 
5% of the total expenditure

(c) Any trading venture where 
income is exceeded by expenditure 
by more than 0.5% of income

(d) Total actual income is less than 
budgeted income by more than 0.5% 
of budgeted income

(e) Total actual expenditure is more 
than budgeted income by more than 
5% of budgeted expenditure

(a) Any unplanned event that affects 
the core purpose or mandate of 
entity per the ASP

(b) Any activity that is outside the 
parameters of each public entity’s 
enabling legislation

4. Framework



Bo-Kaap Walkabout with Educator, Faried Bassier. Voices of the Ancestors exhibition, Iziko South African 
National Gallery.

4.2 SECTION 54: INFORMATION 

TO BE SUBMITTED BY THE 

ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY

VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

(2) before a public entity concludes 
any of the following transactions, 
the Accounting Authority for the 
entity must promptly and in writing 
inform the relevant treasury of the 
transaction and submit relevant 
particulars of the transaction to its 
Executive Authority for approval of 
the transaction:

(b) participation in a significant 
partnership, trust, unincorporated 
joint venture or similar arrangement

(c) acquisition or disposal of a significant 
shareholding in a company

(d) acquisition or disposal of a 
significant asset

(e) commencement or cessation 
of a significant business activity

N/a

N/a

Any transaction of which the amount 
exceeds  1% of the total value of 
assets per AFS

Any transaction of which the amount 
exceeds 1% of the total value of 
assets per AFS

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity



4.3 SECTION 55: ANNUAL 

REPORT AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

(2) the annual report and financial 
     statements must:
 (b) include particulars of:

 (i) any material losses through   
 criminal conduct and 

 any irregular expenditure and   
 fruitless and, 

 wasteful expenditure that   
 occurred during the year

 (iii) any losses recovered or   
 written off

(a) Any loss of which the amount 
exceeds 1% of the total value of 
assets per AFS

(b) Any loss of a National Estate as 
defined in section 3 of the National 
Heritage Resources Act , 1999 (Act 
no 25 of 1999)

All

All

Any unplanned  loss per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose or 
mandate of the entity

All

All

4.4 SECTION 66: RESTRICTIONS ON 

BORROWING, GUARANTEES AND 

OTHER COMMITMENTS

VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

Iziko Museums may not enter into 
any financial commitment beyond 
its approved budgets and its 
accumulated reserves

N/a N/a


